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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

          3  afternoon. My name is Madeline Provenzano and I

          4  Chair the Committee on Housing and Buildings. Today

          5  the Committee is conducting its first hearing on

          6  Intro No. 186, a local law to amend the

          7  administrative code of the City of New York in

          8  relation to creating a right of first refusal and an

          9  opportunity to purchase.

         10                 On proposed Reso No. 388A, a

         11  resolution granting additional real property tax

         12  exemptions for certain affordable housing

         13  developments. These legislative items have been

         14  drafted to address the need to preserve affordable

         15  housing in New York City. In a City that is faced

         16  with a growing shortage of affordable housing, more

         17  incentives and mechanisms must be created to help

         18  improve and maintain such housing where it exists.

         19                 Intro No. 186 would create a right of

         20  first refusal and would give tenants an opportunity

         21  to purchase the property where they reside in

         22  specific circumstances. Intro No. 186 would apply to

         23  certain housing developments created, administered

         24  or supervised by the City or State under Article 2

         25  or Article 4 of the Private Housing Finance Law.
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          2                 Also, to developments providing

          3  project- based assistance under Section 8 of the

          4  United States Housing Act of 1937. To housing

          5  developments subject to mortgage insurance programs

          6  under Sections 207, 221, 232 or 236 of the National

          7  Housing Act. And to any other assisted rental

          8  housing program in which the owner and the tenant

          9  association have agreed to impose rent restrictions

         10  after the programs original expiration date and such

         11  agreement is in force at the time that this section

         12  is enacted. This Committee recognizes that this bill

         13  has fostered a lot of discussion and support among

         14  tenant groups and housing advocates and expects that

         15  all sides with respect to the issues presented by

         16  this bill will be taken into consideration.

         17                 Proposed Reso No. 388A would apply to

         18  certain housing developments created pursuant to

         19  Article 2 of the Private Housing Finance Law.

         20  Limited dividend housing companies organized under

         21  Article 4 of the Private Housing Finance Law, a

         22  municipal housing authority and to housing

         23  development fund companies organized under Article

         24  11 of the Private Housing Finance Law with such

         25  Article 11, company purchased or leased the housing
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          2  development from the City of New York or the Urban

          3  Development Corporation or a successor entity.

          4                 The resolution would authorize real

          5  property tax exemptions in accordance with State

          6  authorization granted pursuant to Chapter 389 and

          7  Chapter 449 of the laws of 2003. Such additional

          8  real property tax exemptions may be granted for a

          9  period of up to 50 years from the expiration of the

         10  current real property tax exemption period or until

         11  such time as the housing development is no longer

         12  operated under the restrictions and for the purposes

         13  set forth in the relevant provisions of the Private

         14  Housing Finance Law and/or the Public Housing Law.

         15                 The result in tax exemptions would

         16  assist the applicable housing developments in

         17  maintaining affordable rents and carrying charges.

         18  Furthermore, in the event that a particular housing

         19  company fails to comply with the requirements of the

         20  Private Housing Finance Law and/or Public Housing

         21  Law, the applicable rules, regulations or other

         22  requirements of the supervising agency or the terms

         23  of any regulatory agreement or contract, the City is

         24  authorized to terminate the additional real property

         25  tax exemption that was approved for such housing
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          2  company pursuant to this resolution.

          3                 If all of you understand all of that,

          4  then congratulations are in order. Anyone wishing to

          5  testify on either the legislation or the Reso,

          6  please sign in. I think we have most folks signed in

          7  already. Indicate which one you will be speaking on.

          8  As you can see, we have many people here today.

          9  That's why I like starting on time. As of 4:00, we

         10  need to vacate this room. Those of you that would

         11  like to speak and have not spoken by then, we'll

         12  have to wait until the second hearing. Those of you

         13  that know me as Chair, know that I require an

         14  orderly and dignified hearing. I'm sure all of you

         15  will comply with that.

         16                 Let me first see who of my colleagues

         17  are here. On my right, I have Council Member Robert

         18  Jackson, Council Member Charles Barron. On my left,

         19  I have Council Member Tony Avella, Council Member

         20  Lou Fidler, and I think I saw Councilwoman Diana

         21  Reyna and Gail Brewer. Where are you? What are you

         22  doing over there? He gets his own special thing. And

         23  Councilwoman Gail Brewer. I also have to my left

         24  Councilman Alan Gerson who is the sponsor of this

         25  legislation and is the reason all of these folks are
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          2  here today, I think. So if you would like to say a

          3  few words.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Good

          5  afternoon. Intro 186 is an important bill which when

          6  enacted will go a long way to alleviate our housing

          7  crisis by preserving tens of thousands if not more

          8  units of affordable housing. Madam Chair, a lot of

          9  time preparation, energy and effort as you can see

         10  has gone into this morning's hearing. I need at the

         11  outset to acknowledge the contributions and

         12  commitment of those who have worked hard over many

         13  months to generate Intro 186 and this hearing.

         14  First, Madam Chair, thank you. You're fairness and

         15  thoroughness remain a credit to our Council and our

         16  City. As I have said before, our City and New

         17  Yorkers are better off because Madeline Provenzano

         18  chairs our Housing Committee.

         19                 Let me also thank our speaker,

         20  Gifford Miller for being the prime sponsor of this

         21  bill as part of his incredible leadership in support

         22  of affordable housing. I must also acknowledge all

         23  of my City Council colleagues who have joined in

         24  this collaborative effort and have sponsored this

         25  bill. I should point out we now have the sponsorship
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          2  of the majority of the City Council. This is a

          3  collaborative effort and our collaborative efforts

          4  includes representatives of the Federal and State

          5  levels who are prepared to work closely with us to

          6  pass any necessary enabling legislation.

          7                 I must also acknowledge the hard work

          8  of our Counsel staff over the past many months. My

          9  office, Director of Legislation, Solomon Tarkel

         10  (phonetic), our Chief of Staff, Derk McCall

         11  (phonetic) and their team of hard working interns,

         12  Michael Freeman, Udo Schneider (phonetic), Jonathan

         13  Mecner (phonetic), Mario Charles and Prumo LaSano

         14  (phonetic) and also we've had support of a group of

         15  interns and volunteers from the Seton Hall Law

         16  School lead by Professor Paula Franzese and adjunct

         17  professors, Maria Anderson and Victoria Flynn. Also,

         18  of course, Madam Chair, the hard work of our counsel

         19  committee staff, counsel to the Committee, of

         20  course, Terzah Nasser who had endured me over many,

         21  many meetings. Our Policy Analyst, Sara Marks and

         22  our Finance Division, David Pechefsky, Finance

         23  Division Chair.

         24                 I also need to acknowledge that this

         25  operation has been a model of collaboration between
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          2  government and the Civic Community with the efforts

          3  and insights of the housing advocacy community and

          4  organizations from whom we'll hear later this

          5  hearing. Finally, I want to acknowledge and thank

          6  our constructive critics, if you will, from the

          7  Administration and the real estate industry. I

          8  appreciate Commissioner and all of you. I appreciate

          9  the time that you have taken to discuss this bill

         10  with us. We welcome your input and your criticism

         11  for the purposes of making this the best, most

         12  effective bill possible.

         13                 I appeal to all of us. Let us proceed

         14  in a nonpartisan manner to preserve affordable

         15  housing. Let us not make this a political issue.

         16  Let's make this a policy issue. Let us start with

         17  the premise that our City requires legislation to

         18  permanently implement and assure real preservation

         19  policies in a systemic way which permits affordable

         20  housing in all parts of our City to be preserved.

         21  Let us together do right by all the tenants of our

         22  City.

         23                 Madam Chair, and finally, I need to

         24  acknowledge all the people in the audience. All the

         25  tenant associations and their leaders, many of them
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          2  came to meeting after meeting after meeting. This

          3  bill is dedicated to them. They build and sustain

          4  our City day in and day out. We owe it to them to

          5  preserve affordable housing. Let me just to kind of

          6  wrap it up, we all know our City faces a serious

          7  affordable housing crisis. Everyday this crisis

          8  continues. More and more New Yorkers are forced out

          9  of their homes and out of the neighborhoods they've

         10  help to build. More and more young people cannot

         11  find living space in the communities in which they

         12  grew up and more and more seniors cannot afford to

         13  live in the communities familiar to them for most of

         14  their lives.

         15                 Everyday this crisis continues to

         16  become harder and harder for young people and

         17  families to move into New York to bring their

         18  contributions to our City. Everyday this crisis

         19  continues, our City loses more of its special

         20  character which as our Mayor has stated is

         21  predicated on a demographic diversity which requires

         22  affordable housing and the preservation of

         23  affordable housing.

         24                 This bill is necessary to begin to

         25  deal with the situation because as bad as the
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          2  current crisis is, Madam Chair, it will get much,

          3  much worse if we don't act now. We have already lost

          4  over 44,000 units from project- based Section 8

          5  developments, rental Mitchell- Lama and similar

          6  developments because these units have expired

          7  without any preservation program in place.

          8                 We now face the loss of more than

          9  110,000 units in these and similar developments if

         10  over the next few years, if we do not act. If we

         11  lose these units, people could effectively be

         12  evicted from their homes. Even if agreements are

         13  reached between owner and tenant associations, Madam

         14  Chair, we will in time lose the units as affordable

         15  if we do not put in place a preservation program. We

         16  all know a generation ago, we faced a similar crisis

         17  at the end of World War II and we responded with

         18  rent control. We now face a crisis which is every

         19  bit as severe. But the remedy we propose, 186, is

         20  far less draconian, far less imposing and indeed I

         21  would say much more conservative than the rent

         22  control approach taken now.

         23                 I will conclude by briefly

         24  summarizing what 186 and clarifying what 186 intends

         25  and will effectively do and what it will not do. It
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          2  is important to note that this bill does not condemn

          3  or take property and does not impose an economic

          4  burden on owners. This bill honors the contracts

          5  owners entered into years ago by assuring that they

          6  receive the full market return on their investments.

          7  All Intro 186 does, as it does elsewhere in this

          8  country where it has been enacted, is give tenants

          9  through their associations and their community

         10  organizations, the time and opportunity to come up

         11  with an offer that meets the market requirements of

         12  a return on the investment to owners in a fair and

         13  efficient market place, 186 might not be necessary.

         14  But we all know that it is the role of government to

         15  overcome imperfections in the market place. 186 is

         16  in effect a nondiscrimination bill assuring that

         17  owners sit at the table with tenant associations and

         18  attempt to negotiate in good faith with them which

         19  most owners, but perhaps not all, would do.

         20                 It provides the information and time,

         21  opportunity for tenants to come up with offers to

         22  buy out the buildings. It provides a necessary

         23  impetus to community organizations, to perhaps labor

         24  unions, to community banks and perhaps the City

         25  government, to come up with the preservation trust
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          2  fund and the other financial instruments necessary

          3  to give real effect to the legal rights which 186

          4  would provide. It's not rocket science. It's the

          5  same financial instruments which created these units

          6  in the first place. We talk about a $3 billion plan

          7  for affordable housing. Less than one third is all

          8  it would take to give real meaning to Intro 186.

          9                 Finally, Madam Chair, if we pass this

         10  bill, it will be a win, win, win for all involved.

         11  Win for the tenants who will have the opportunity to

         12  control their destiny and ownership. For many of

         13  them, perhaps the only such opportunity they would

         14  ever have. Win for owners who will be assured of a

         15  return on their investments. A full return on their

         16  investments. And win for the City because it cost a

         17  lot less to preserve than to create. It will be a

         18  wasteful policy if we spend $3 billion to create a

         19  lesser number of affordable units only to lose a

         20  greater number because we did not act to preserve.

         21  As will be pointed out, similar legislation is in

         22  effect and works elsewhere in this country.

         23                 There is no reason why it should not

         24  be in effect in New York. I represent the district

         25  of Ground Zero and the aftermath of 9/11, people of
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          2  all backgrounds came to together to overcome that

          3  adversity. We owe it to all people, to all New

          4  Yorkers to assure that people of all backgrounds can

          5  continue to live in my community and in all of the

          6  communities of this City. That is the intent of 186.

          7  Let's work together to make it a realty. Thank you

          8  very much, Madam Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've also

         10  been joined by Council Member Martinez, Councilwoman

         11  Lopez, Councilwoman James. I thought I saw you

         12  there. At this point, I would like to introduce our

         13  first testifiee. We didn't shut those lights to put

         14  you in the dark. Okay. But I don't like them shining

         15  in my face up here. I would also like to ask those

         16  of you in the audience to refrain from clapping,

         17  cheering, or anything else because that takes time

         18  away from the folks that would like to speak. We all

         19  can pretty much estimate when you're happy or sad.

         20  So we'll make that determination without the

         21  accompanying noise. Commissioner, welcome.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you very

         23  much, Chairwoman. First of all, let me say good

         24  afternoon to you and to all the members of the

         25  Housing and Buildings Committee and particularly to
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          2  Council Member Gerson who's eloquent words about the

          3  preservation of affordable housing I couldn't agree

          4  with more. I look forward to further collaboration

          5  on this as we go forward.

          6                 I am Shaun Donovan, the Commissioner

          7  of Housing Preservation and Development and am

          8  pleased to be here today. Before addressing the

          9  specifics of Intro 186, I wanted to discuss some of

         10  the housing preservation challenges that confront

         11  us, specifically concerning Mitchell- Lama, Section

         12  8 and other types of assisted housing which are the

         13  focus of Intro 186. I'm sure that everyone in this

         14  chamber agrees that the preservation of affordable

         15  housing is a top priority and to achieve it, we must

         16  continue to work together.

         17                 Mayor Bloomberg has demonstrated that

         18  affordable housing is a top priority by dedicating

         19  $3 billion to his New Housing Marketplace Plan,

         20  which calls for the development and preservation of

         21  65,000 units by 2008. I am pleased to report that in

         22  the second year of the five year plan, we are right

         23  on track. By the end of this fiscal year, 26,000

         24  units or 40 percent of the total will be completed

         25  or in the development pipeline, ranging from the
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          2  American dream of homeownership to the innovative

          3  design of green buildings.

          4                 One of the primary goals of The New

          5  Marketplace Plan has been to catalyze housing

          6  investment from the private sector. Just two weeks

          7  ago, the Mayor announced an unprecedented $1 billion

          8  investment by the Enterprise Foundation to create or

          9  preserve 15,000 affordable units for low- income New

         10  Yorkers over the next five years. About $200 million

         11  will be used to preserve affordable units, $140

         12  million of which will be used to protect homes for

         13  4,000 low- income seniors. The remainder of the

         14  commitment allocates $775 million for development of

         15  new housing, including $150 million for 2,500 units

         16  of supportive housing and $25 million to provide

         17  technical assistance to community based partners.

         18  This is but one of the many pledges of support from

         19  our private partners sparked by the Mayor's housing

         20  plan.

         21                 But even as this Administration has

         22  increased the City's commitment to affordable

         23  housing, we face risks to the Federal funding that

         24  is also crucial to our efforts. As many of you know,

         25  the Administration has been fighting hard to
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          2  maintain and increase the level of Section 8 funding

          3  received by the City. The Mayor himself has been

          4  highly involved. He has spoken with Secretary

          5  Jackson several times to express his concern

          6  regarding HUD's proposed changes to our Section 8

          7  funding. Tino Hernandez, Chairman of the New York

          8  City Housing Authority and I have visited Washington

          9  a number of times over the last six months to urge

         10  HUD and Congress to reconsider HUD's Section 8

         11  proposals which would have cut the Section 8 funding

         12  New York City receives. In addition, we received

         13  considerable assistance from many of you, as well as

         14  the City's congressional delegation and our two

         15  Senators. As you know, due to our joint efforts, HUD

         16  restored $52 million of our Section 8 voucher

         17  funding for this year.

         18                 In another attempt to limit Section 8

         19  funding, HUD also proposed new standards for Fair

         20  Market Rents which would have reduced New York

         21  City's FMR across the board. HUD published cuts

         22  between four and 14 percent depending on the number

         23  of bedrooms. Following another round of lobbying, we

         24  were successful in getting HUD to postpone their

         25  proposed schedule for the imposition of the new
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          2  FMR's, pending a new rent survey here in New York

          3  City. We expect that HUD will complete its survey

          4  and implement its findings on new FMR's by the end

          5  of this year.

          6                 While we are hopeful that HUD will

          7  make a decision regarding FMR's that is favorable to

          8  us, the fight is not yet over. Congress must

          9  appropriate funding for Section 8 and other housing

         10  programs each year and the House of Representatives

         11  has proposed to fund Section 8 by cutting 4 percent

         12  from CDBG and HOME block grants, public housing and

         13  all the other programs that are critical to this

         14  City's success. We must continue to lobby Congress

         15  to fully fund Section 8 and our other housing

         16  programs in 2005 and beyond.

         17                 As you are no doubt aware, HUD's

         18  involvement in our affordable housing stock is not

         19  limited to Section 8 vouchers. There are many HUD

         20  financed properties around the City and a share of

         21  these are troubled and at risk of loss. In recent

         22  years, HUD has become more active in addressing

         23  these troubled properties, many of which are either

         24  physically deteriorated or in default on their

         25  mortgages. However, not all of its solutions ensure
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          2  the continuation of affordable housing. Therefore,

          3  we are working with HUD on a variety of strategies

          4  to achieve this important goal.

          5                 For example, on an individual

          6  foreclosures of multifamily properties, we have

          7  worked with HUD and community development groups to

          8  assume control of these properties. Currently, we

          9  are actively engaged in discussions regarding more

         10  than a half dozen properties, including St. Ambrose

         11  Apartments, Gates Patchen Apartments, Pleasant East

         12  Apartments, Bed- Stuy NSA II, Logan Gardens, Ennis

         13  Francis Houses, and the Bronx Center for Independent

         14  Living.

         15                 We have also written to HUD to

         16  express our interest in working on any additional

         17  properties that are in the foreclosure pipeline.

         18  Furthermore, even where we are not able to gain

         19  control of the properties with our partners, we are

         20  working with the agency and affected tenants to

         21  ensure compliance with existing City restrictions

         22  such as Land Disposition Agreements.

         23                 These efforts, however, require

         24  complex negotiations in each case that have

         25  sometimes led to protracted court battles. To limit
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          2  these struggles, we are also exploring more

          3  wholesale approaches with HUD that would transfer

          4  properties or mortgages in bulk to the City or its

          5  partners. One example is our effort to strengthen

          6  390 troubled 203K properties. We have worked out

          7  arrangements with HUD so that when it acquires a

          8  203K property as a result of a mortgage foreclosure,

          9  the building will be transferred to an HPD selected

         10  developer for rehabilitation. As part of this

         11  arrangement, HUD provides the funding for

         12  rehabilitation. We have already completed 77

         13  buildings under this unique partnership and hope to

         14  create similar models to revitalize thousands of

         15  additional units in single and multi- family FHA

         16  properties.

         17                 One example is our attempt to create

         18  an Asset Control Area that would allow the City to

         19  obtain one to four family properties from HUD at

         20  below market prices that community developers could

         21  rehabilitate and sell as affordable housing. This

         22  would allow HUD to make use of our partnerships that

         23  successfully revitalized the City's own housing to

         24  rehabilitate troubled HUD buildings as well.

         25                 We are also exploring the purchase of
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          2  HUD held mortgages on multi- family properties. If

          3  HPD is successful, once these buildings are in our

          4  portfolio, we will seek to foreclose where

          5  appropriate and utilize our programs to rehabilitate

          6  the buildings. We are optimistic about those

          7  discussions and will update you on the negotiations

          8  as they progress.

          9                 While our work to revitalize HUD's

         10  troubled stock is important, the most significant

         11  area in which we have focused our preservation

         12  efforts is the City's Mitchell- Lama portfolio. As

         13  you know, the Mitchell- Lama program was created

         14  more than 40 years ago to facilitate the development

         15  of housing for middle- income New Yorkers. The

         16  statute governing the Mitchell- Lama program allows

         17  owners to opt out of the program after the building

         18  is occupied for at least 20 years.

         19                 The rental properties that were

         20  occupied before January 1, 1974, are subject to rent

         21  stabilization if they buy out of the program. Those

         22  occupied after January 1, 1974, do not receive such

         23  rent stabilization protections after a buy out. Many

         24  Mitchell- Lama projects receive Federal mortgage

         25  assistance from HUD known as Section 236, which
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          2  allows income eligible tenants to receive special

          3  Section 8 rental subsidies known as sticky vouchers,

          4  when the HUD mortgage is satisfied or the property

          5  buys out.

          6                 The Mayor's New Marketplace Plan

          7  allocates $50 million for repairs to Mitchell- Lama

          8  developments. These funds are used for upgrading and

          9  replacement of boilers, elevators and other systems.

         10  I'm pleased to tell you that $13 million has already

         11  been approved and we are currently reviewing another

         12  $36.6 million of repair requests for additional

         13  buildings. We expect to close all the loans by the

         14  end of our fiscal year, June 2005.

         15                 The City's Housing Development

         16  Corporation is also developing a program for the

         17  City Mitchell- Lama portfolio. The HDC program is

         18  designed to address the interest arrears that

         19  continue to accrue on the portfolio of 86 Mitchell-

         20  Lama developments that were refinanced with HUD

         21  insurance 25 years ago. HDC plans to restructure

         22  both the first and second mortgages and where

         23  necessary, will provide additional funding for

         24  capital repairs. In exchange for participating in

         25  the HDC refinancing programs, developments will
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          2  agree to remain in the Mitchell- Lama program for an

          3  additional 15 years. HDC has also signed 30

          4  agreements, most of them with Mitchell- Lama co-

          5  ops. We expect the first refinancing to be completed

          6  by December and the next to be completed during the

          7  first quarter of 2005.

          8                 In addition to these programmatic

          9  initiatives, we have undertaken several legislative

         10  initiatives that will allow more Mitchell- Lama

         11  units to remain affordable. Our proposal to limit

         12  Mitchell- Lama buy outs was passed by the Assembly

         13  last spring and we continue to lobby the State

         14  Senate to pass it as well. As you recall, this bill

         15  would protect tenants by extending rent

         16  stabilization to all Mitchell- Lama rental units

         17  upon buy out from the Mitchell- Lama program. The

         18  bill would also encourage owners to stay in the

         19  Mitchell- Lama program by removing the six percent

         20  equity cap for owners and allowing annual Rent

         21  Guideline Board rent increases. Our other Mitchell-

         22  Lama proposal passed both houses and was recently

         23  signed into law by Governor Pataki. It is a mortgage

         24  refinancing bill that enables developments to obtain

         25  more favorable mortgage rates. Owners who refinance
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          2  must agree to remain in the Mitchell- Lama program

          3  for at least six additional years.

          4                 Beyond our work on preserving

          5  Mitchell- Lama's, we are also developing policy

          6  solutions for the next round of assisted units that

          7  may need help; those using low- income housing tax

          8  credits. As you know, the Federal low- income

          9  housing tax credit program was created as part of

         10  the 1986 Tax Reform Act. To date, the program has

         11  developed more than 23,000 units affordable to

         12  families earning less than 60 percent of the Area

         13  Median Income here in New York City.

         14                 Through the sale of tax credits, the

         15  program leverages private funds that can be used to

         16  meet the equity requirements for low- income

         17  housing. The first few of these developments are now

         18  reaching the end of their 15 year compliance period,

         19  and the original private investors will want to opt

         20  out of the projects since the benefits of the tax

         21  credits no longer apply to them. We are working with

         22  the Enterprise Foundation, LISC, and other

         23  syndicators, as well as non- profit sponsors of

         24  these projects to determine how to best maintain the

         25  affordability of the units and the long- term
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          2  physical and economical viability of the

          3  developments. With all of these initiatives, we have

          4  been hard at work preserving the City's affordable

          5  housing stock, and we know you've been looking at

          6  solutions yourselves.

          7                 Intro 186 is clearly aimed at

          8  preserving affordable housing, and it proposes

          9  favoring tenant organizations as purchasers, two

         10  goals we hardly endorse. However, given our shared

         11  goals, we are concerned that the legislation would

         12  not achieve those goals, and might even work to

         13  undermine them. First and foremost, we believe that

         14  this bill violates State law. The City cannot

         15  require a private owner to relinquish ownership of

         16  property without following the procedures specified

         17  in the State's Eminent Domain Procedure Law,

         18  including a determination by the court of a

         19  property's fair market value. This bill would

         20  require that the owner accept and offer to purchase

         21  the building at the higher of either value set by a

         22  board of appraisers or the price offered by a bona

         23  fide purchaser, without complying with the

         24  requirements established by the State law.

         25                 Beyond this legal concern, however,
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          2  we also believe that as currently constructed, the

          3  bill has a number of unintended consequences. First,

          4  because the bill does not mandate long- term

          5  affordability for tenant purchasers, it could lead

          6  to the conversion of affordable housing to market

          7  rate housing. While tenant organizations in general

          8  would be inclined to preserve affordability, my

          9  agency's 30- year history of assistant cooperative

         10  conversions by the tenants of City owned property

         11  has shown that a regulatory agreement or other form

         12  of required affordability is an important safeguard.

         13                 Second, because the bill specifies

         14  appraised value, it may actually result in tenants

         15  paying more to purchase properties that they would

         16  without the bill. One example is West Village Houses

         17  in Manhattan. Tenants of this 420- unit Mitchell-

         18  Lama development in Greenwich Village are purchasing

         19  the property as a low- income HDFC co- op, the very

         20  first tenant sponsored conversion of a Mitchell-

         21  Lama. This is a model for future buy outs; each

         22  party came to the table with a responsible position

         23  and seriously discussed how the tenants could

         24  purchase the property. The tenants are now filing

         25  the appropriate papers with the Attorney General and
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          2  will hopefully convert to a cooperative by next

          3  spring.

          4                 Everyone compromised to make this

          5  work; the tenants are seeking private financing that

          6  will be supported by somewhat higher rents, the City

          7  will seek approval to continue the existing tax

          8  exemption for 12 years and forgive interest on a

          9  second mortgage and the owners discounted their

         10  asking price below appraised value. It was a

         11  partnership that produced a win- win- win result,

         12  but had this bill been law, it might have caused the

         13  tenants to offer a higher purchase price for the

         14  property making the settlement less affordable, or

         15  even stopping it altogether. And West Village is not

         16  unusual. Many sales of assisted housing occur at

         17  below appraised value.

         18                 Third, because the bill is

         19  retroactive to properties that completed the

         20  conversion process after December 3, 2003, the bill

         21  could jeopardize many settlements completed since

         22  that date that preserved affordability, including

         23  the tenant sponsored conversion of West Village

         24  Houses, I just discussed.

         25                 Finally, while the bill is intended
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          2  to provide an opportunity for tenants to purchase

          3  their properties, it does not provide the most

          4  important ingredient of success; financial resources

          5  to make those purchases possible. Earlier in my

          6  testimony, I highlighted a number of initiatives

          7  this Administration has undertaken to provide

          8  resources to preserve assisted housing. Another

          9  important tool would be the financial resources

         10  provided by the other bill we are considering here

         11  today, Resolution 388A.

         12                 The Council has introduced Resolution

         13  388A to implement Chapters 389 and 449 of New York

         14  State Laws of 2003, granting tax exemption

         15  extensions for Mitchell- Lama developments. These

         16  extensions provide an important incentive for the

         17  properties to remain affordable, and help to support

         18  the preservation goals we are striving for here

         19  today. Therefore, we support the extended tax

         20  exemptions this Resolution would provide; although

         21  there remain some open issues that we look forward

         22  to discussing with the Council staff.

         23                 We have drafted letters to the

         24  Council requesting that it extend tax exemptions of

         25  Mitchell- Lama developments for the maximum period
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          2  allowed by law. The New York State Division of

          3  Housing and Community Renewal which supervises a

          4  number of affected Mitchell- Lama developments is

          5  currently reviewing these requests and I would hope

          6  to incorporate the DHCR's comments and to send them

          7  to the Speaker within the next two weeks.

          8                 Let me close by saying that this

          9  Administration has been very fortunate to be able to

         10  build on the successes of previous Administrations

         11  and to work with partners like you and our other

         12  government colleagues in not only preserving

         13  affordable housing, but retaining subsidies like

         14  Section 8 vouchers that allow families to live

         15  affordable in New York City. I am proud to have

         16  partnered with you and will continue to work with

         17  you and your staff, neighborhood and community

         18  organizations, the State Legislature, the New York

         19  City Congressional delegation and staff from Federal

         20  agencies on these important issues. Collectively, we

         21  are building strong neighborhoods and vital

         22  communities where all New Yorkers can afford to

         23  live. Thank you and I'll now take your questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Once again, I

         25  ask you please no applause. We appreciate your
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          2  feelings and your concerns, but it kind of takes

          3  away from what's going on here. We thank you,

          4  Commissioner. And we know this is more or less your

          5  area of expertise. We will now take questions.

          6  Robert Jackson. There is a procedure here. We have

          7  to do Council Members first. We've also been joined

          8   -- he left already.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair. May I continue?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Go.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Good afternoon.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Concerning

         16  Intro 186, I represent northern Manhattan District

         17  7. One of the project Section 8 developments, 3333

         18  Broadway, I don't know if you're aware of that. But

         19  I have many, many residents in this hearing room

         20  today that are very concerned about their homes and

         21  how they're going to be able to live in that

         22  community now and in the future. From what I heard

         23  of your testimony, you believe that if we, this

         24  Council, passes Intro 186 into law, that you feel

         25  it's a violation or it's not legal. Is that correct?
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          2  Who's opinion is that based on?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We've worked

          4  very closely with our legal staff at HPD, obviously

          5  very familiar with the State property laws and

          6  believe that it is in conflict with the State

          7  Eminent Domain Procedure.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Can you share

          9  a copy of Counsel's legal opinion concerning that

         10  particular matter to us so we can look at it also?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm not sure at

         12  this point that we actually have a specific drafted

         13  opinion. But we'd be happy to sit down with Council

         14  staff and work cooperatively to try and find a

         15  resolution to that issue.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you think

         17  there is a going to be a final opinion on that and

         18  not a drafted opinion that you can share with us so

         19  we can see your logic and reasoning and the

         20  appropriate law that you're referring to that you

         21  feel this is a violation of?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: If you are

         23  interested in getting an opinion, we could work with

         24  you on that with the Law Department. However, what I

         25  would say is our real interest here is trying to get
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          2  to a resolution of the issues. I think it might be

          3  preferable to work constructively with the Council

          4  staff to try and resolve the issue before we have to

          5  actually put in writing that there is a significant

          6  problem with the legal aspects. I would hope that we

          7  could work cooperatively to do that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I appreciate

          9  that. I think that's the type of attitude that I

         10  want to hear in response to my question and also

         11  that the tenants that I represent want to hear. One,

         12  that's going to be a collaboration in order to

         13  achieve the end goal which is to maintain affordable

         14  housing in the City of New York. I appreciate that.

         15  Do you know of any other developments or programs

         16  where tenants have opted out and purchased a

         17  building or development from owners?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We have,

         19  actually, I think one of the richest histories here

         20  in New York City of that happening. In fact, well

         21  before my time, HPD has been working over decades to

         22  help existing residents purchase their buildings.

         23  Our tenant interim lease program, now our third

         24  party transfer program, we give the option in any

         25  case where more than 60 percent of the tenants
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          2  express the desire to purchase their properties, we

          3  will work with them and we've been able to create

          4  tenant sponsored cooperatives in more than 20,000

          5  units here in New York City through those programs.

          6  My agency and tenant groups have a very, very strong

          7  history of being able to do that.

          8                 In addition most recently, the West

          9  Village Houses Settlement that I mentioned was just

         10  a terrific model of allowing tenants to purchase

         11  their Mitchell- Lama. So, we do have, I think in New

         12  York City more than perhaps anywhere else in the

         13  country, terrific examples of exactly what this bill

         14  is trying to accomplish.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Then I ask

         16  you on behalf of the residents of 3333 Broadway to

         17  please assist them and assist me as their

         18  representative to ensure that they have their homes

         19  and affordable homes for now and in the future.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We'll do my

         21  very best. Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         24  Member Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very
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          2  much, Madam Chair. I still think that there is some

          3  legal argument about Eminent Domain. I think that

          4  you proposing something here that may not be as

          5  accurate as you're saying because if the landlord,

          6  if he goes through the process and it's not

          7  stringent as Eminent Domain so that the people know

          8  what Eminent Domain is, is not like the government

          9  is taking over someone's property for public use

         10  which is what the Fifth Amendment says, and like a

         11  park or a highway, So Eminent Domain, that's a fuzzy

         12  area. You may not be accurate there. I don't want

         13  people to think that it's all that clear. That's

         14  something that can be litigated and interpreted

         15  differently based upon 186. Because the landlord

         16  does have some space in there before it gets to the

         17  right of refusal from the tenants and then from you,

         18  the City as well. It's not the same as the City

         19  coming in and saying that we want your property.

         20  We're exercising Eminent Domain and we're going to

         21  use it for public use whether it's a highway or

         22  park. Isn't that correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I will have to

         24  admit that I'm not a lawyer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You sure
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          2  sounded like it just a minute ago.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Again, we've

          4  worked very closely with our legal staff on this.

          5  But again, I would suggest that we let the experts

          6  on the legal matters sit down. My real focus, quite

          7  honestly, has been on the policy side of this and

          8  the other concerns that I expressed and I would

          9  suggest that we leave the legal discussions to the

         10  experts to work that out.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's why I

         12  would suggest that you not bring up the legal

         13  discussions since you're not a lawyer. The policy

         14  questions is really more of a real policy question.

         15  Stop clapping before you get me in trouble. Oh, she

         16  didn't hear you. That's all right. That's why I

         17  suggest that you don't do this fear thing around the

         18  legal process. Since you're not a lawyer, I'm not a

         19  lawyer, we're really here to talk about policy. It's

         20  not established that 186 would be in violation of

         21  that. I just don't want the people to be so fearful

         22  when they hear Eminent Domain might be illegal and

         23  all of that.

         24                 The other thing I would like to ask

         25  you, 65,000 units that the Mayor's, how do you
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          2  define affordable?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We provide a

          4  range of affordability levels. The majority of the

          5  units that we are providing through the plan are for

          6  low- income families. We actually have a survey

          7  going on right now where we're measuring the

          8  incomes. But typically those units are for families

          9  making, on average a family of four making $30 to

         10  $40,000 a year. That's where the majority of those

         11  units are produced. We're also producing units that

         12  are available for moderate income households as

         13  well. For example, in our HDC programs and some

         14  other ones, based on input from the Council and from

         15  others, we've actually been looking at those income

         16  levels and just recently lowered the income

         17  guidelines on some of the HDC programs in response

         18  to some of your questions and concerns.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What about the

         20  price of the housing itself?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: There is an

         22  enormous variation, but in every case it needs to be

         23  affordable to the families at those targeted income

         24  levels. So again, the majority of those units are

         25  affordable. That means 30 percent of income, two
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          2  families making in the range of $30 to $40,000 a

          3  year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's why I

          5  just wanted to be clear because of the 65,000 units,

          6  when you say simple majority -- of the 65,000,

          7  roughly how many will be in the low- income?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Over 30,000 of

          9  them would be, the majority of them.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So another way

         11  of saying is that another 30 some odd thousand will

         12  not be in that range.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: To the lowest

         14  income families, that's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. It will

         16  not be available for them. I guess this might be

         17  more for the Chair and the architects of the bill.

         18  The area that I'm concerned about and I just need a

         19  little more clarity on, it's good that we have an

         20  opportunity to purchase. But what happens when an

         21  owner decides, all right you have to match this bid.

         22  Is there anything we can put in our bill that says

         23  that he can't come and say, well I'm selling it to

         24  somebody for a million dollars and if you can match

         25  that, you have a right to purchase. Some kind of way
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          2  where they don't get around the bill and although we

          3  technically have an opportunity, but we don't have

          4  the money, the capital to actually match what might

          5  be put out there.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, my

          7  friend and colleague, Council Member Barron for

          8  raising always an incisive and important point and

          9  we will have witnesses who will address that very

         10  point. But there are two aspects to it which I'll

         11  touch on briefly now and more elaborately later.

         12  First of all, obviously we need to have procedures

         13  to assure that in this process that offers which

         14  need to be matched are bona fide, good faith offers

         15  and not a sham or run aways. And this bill is

         16  modeled on bills which exist elsewhere in the

         17  country. Unfortunately, New York is not taking the

         18  lead here and many of these issues have been

         19  obviously we need to adjust them to fit the New York

         20  need and model. These checks and balances to assure

         21  that we're talking about bona fide offers and a

         22  fraud avoidance can be worked out and can be

         23  implemented. You're absolutely right, we need to do

         24  that and hopefully working with the Department,

         25  we'll be able to come up with the language which
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          2  accomplishes that goal.

          3                 With respect to the broader issue of

          4  the necessary financing, two points which need to be

          5  made. One is we feel this bill in and of itself will

          6  provide an impetus, will prompt many in the civic

          7  sector, the not- for- profit sector as well as

          8  perhaps different levels of government to work to

          9  come up with the financial instruments to lend

         10  assistance to tenants. We know in this City, we have

         11  a great history of labor unions creating affordable

         12  housing. In my district, we have many such units.

         13  This bill would encourage and prompt unions as well

         14  as other groups and we'll hear testimony from some

         15  such groups to get back involved and to get involved

         16  in the area of preservation.

         17                 However, in concluding the response,

         18  at the same time as we have proposed this bill, we

         19  have proposed the creation of an affordable

         20  preservation trust fund. The Commissioner is 100

         21  percent correct. The bill will work or any bill we

         22  arrive at will be truly effective only if we have in

         23  place financing. Financing can come from both the

         24  public and the private sectors. I was going to make

         25  this comment during my round of questioning, but
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          2  since you've prompted me, I have tremendous respect

          3  for the Commissioner's financial policy

          4  capabilities. He's been a called financial genius.

          5  It's a description I fully agree with. So I'm

          6  confident that together, we can create an affordable

          7  preservation trust fund which will combine the

          8  various financial instruments, tax credits, mortgage

          9  guarantees, some direct subsidies and put together

         10  the type of package that would give reality to this

         11  bill. We did it to create these buildings in the

         12  first place. There's no reason why we cannot do it

         13  to preserve these buildings. Thank you. Sorry for

         14  the long answer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I wanted to be

         18  thorough.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair. I just wanted to thank you for giving

         21  me this opportunity. I do have several other

         22  meetings. But I thank you for the opportunity. Also,

         23  I wanted to let the people know that the retroactive

         24  damage that it might due, it's also debatable.

         25  Whether its help or hurts retroactively is also
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          2  debatable. So things that you hear, take with a

          3  grain of salt. There's a lot of research and a lot

          4  of loop holes in things. Thank you very much, Madam

          5  Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7  Council Member Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair. Hello, Commissioner.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Good to see

         11  you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Good to see

         13  you, too. I first want to begin saying I want to

         14  thank HPD and the Mayor and Tino Hernandez for the

         15  work that you guys had done in regard of preserving

         16  Section 8 in the City of New York. That's something

         17  that every person in New York City should know that

         18  the Administration mobilized to save Section 8 and

         19  you took a very strong position on that against the

         20  position of the press that had been to dismantle

         21  Section 8. I thank you for that and I think that

         22  everybody should know and be aware of that.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Saying that, I

         25  have been involved on the Section 8 world for many
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          2  reasons. I used to be a housing organizer and I

          3  organized Section 8 based programs. I would like to

          4  ask you this conversation first establishing a

          5  principal that this has been done around the nation.

          6  These buildings have been bought by the tenants

          7  around the nation. Do we agree on that?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes, it has.

          9  And including here in New York City as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if that

         11  had been possible and we agreed that tenants can

         12  purchase this building, then what we need to work,

         13  the Administration and us, is in how we can

         14  implement this policy, no that we cannot implement.

         15  That's what we need to work. Do we agree on that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely. And

         17  I said in my testimony that the principals of the

         18  bill we certainly endorse. We have real concerns

         19  about both -- what's different here is we have New

         20  York State law versus law in the rest of the

         21  country. Again, I think the legal experts should sit

         22  down and discuss that. On the policy side, I think

         23  there are a number of things within the bill that

         24  would have unintended consequences and I'm

         25  concerned, for example, the lack of an affordability
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          2  provision. I think all tenants should be willing to

          3  step up and say we're going to preserve the building

          4  as affordable. Unfortunately, we have some examples

          5  in the HUD stock that we're dealing with right now.

          6  Gates Patchen is an example where a tenant

          7  organization that was involved in the property has

          8  really disbanded and we're in danger of losing the

          9  affordability of that property because they're

         10  trying to sell it to somebody who would convert.

         11                 I think we need to make sure that

         12  there's affordability available. I think we need to

         13  work on it. It's a tough nut to crack, the issue of

         14  appraised value. But I worry about having tenants

         15  have to pay more than they would otherwise have to

         16  pay as a result of the bill. So there are a number

         17  of pieces that I think we need to work on. Overall,

         18  though the principals of it, we completely agree and

         19  we'd like to work with you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then that's

         21  good news that we agree on the principal and the

         22  Administration and us agree that this should be

         23  explored in order to be done. We agree on that and

         24  that's moving. The tenants should know that. They

         25  should hear that. The second point that I want to
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          2  bring. I agree with you in the question of

          3  accessibility and preserving the nature of the

          4  affordability. That's the reason that every single

          5  time that I have worked with HPD in disposing

          6  property in my district, I always insisted that

          7  conditions and results had to be put in place. That

          8  is not a difficult solution to address the problem

          9  that you bring to the table. That's correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then

         12  affordability can be resolved very easy by

         13  organizing and orchestrating and articulating

         14  restrictive policies that would not allow these

         15  apartments to be converted eventually in luxury

         16  housing that get out of the affordability universe

         17  that we want to maintain. Then that's not an

         18  unresolvable item. Do we agree on that?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I agree with

         20  you on that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the bill

         22  can be moved in the right direction also to resolve

         23  that. The second point that I would like to address

         24  with you is in regard of the question of how to

         25  proceed about it. First of all, I truly believe when
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          2  Mayor Bloomberg came out and announced that he was

          3  going to create 65,000 new units of housing and I

          4  still believe that. Why we cannot right now make a

          5  commitment that Administration and us to work on

          6  this bill to make the 65,000 units of housing closer

          7  to the truth by moving forward a bill like this that

          8  will guarantee, not only that we will not

          9  necessarily fulfill the 65,000. Because I don't know

         10  if the Mayor is close to do that right now or not.

         11  But by making sure that we are not going to lose the

         12  amounts that are right now on the Section 8.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all, I

         14  would say, we are on track. We have in the pipeline

         15  at this point 40 percent of the overall commitment,

         16  26,000 units and that would put us two years into a

         17  five year plan 40 percent of the way there. We are

         18  right on track in achieving that. I would go back to

         19  the point I made earlier which is that ultimately

         20  the most critical ingredient to making this happen

         21  is the resources. That's why when the Mayor came

         22  forward with his plan, there was $3 billion behind

         23  it. Ultimately, what made the West Village

         24  settlement work for the tenants is that everybody

         25  gave. The owner was willing to come down below
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          2  appraised value. We were able to put in additional

          3  incentives as well. And the tenants were willing to

          4  absorb some rent increases to make it work. I don't

          5  think ultimately that this bill gets us to 65,000

          6  units.

          7                 We ultimately what we need is the

          8  resources like with Resolution 388A that's proposed

          9  today, those types of innovative things that can

         10  help us get the resources needed to preserve this

         11  housing. That's the most critical ingredient in

         12  making sure that it happens.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But

         14  Commissioner, it would be disingenuous for you, for

         15  me, for anyone to think that the other bill that

         16  we're looking at here is the one who's going to be

         17  the magic bullet when we don't even have a way to

         18  put in place in mandate, a preservation and taking

         19  over units of housing that we're going to lose if we

         20  don't protect them. Because the Section 8 program

         21  now, thank you to George Walker Bush, the current

         22  President in post in this country, we have new

         23  regulations in there that had jeopardized Section 8

         24  in the nation. Allowing the owners of those

         25  buildings to get out of from the program after they
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          2  have milked out the entire system of tax payers

          3  because they did not lose a penny when they build

          4  this housing.

          5                 To the contrary, they benefit from

          6  every subsidy possible. They benefit from land that

          7  the City has and gave it to them. They benefit from

          8  every thing possible and now that they took out

          9  every penny they could, after they exploited this

         10  building, now they are given the opportunity to pack

         11  their suitcase, leave and convert these apartments

         12  into luxury housing. Then this bill, 186, is talking

         13  to the point in question which is preserve the

         14  housing and then we can talk about the other bill

         15  that you mentioned which is the financing component.

         16  You cannot talk about financing component if you

         17  don't save the building or the apartments. It is not

         18  possible.

         19                 I want to suggest to respect the

         20  Chairwoman of this Committee, this woman is not just

         21  only my friend, but a person who tries to conduct

         22  business in a way that is appropriate. She really

         23  asked you not to applaud for good reasons. I

         24  understand that we get passionate and perhaps it was

         25  my fault. I apologize to you for that. But listen to
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          2  what she said. Okay? My point to you, therefore, is

          3  if you don't have the building, how the hell you're

          4  going to implement any taxation or resolution

          5  granting any real property a special benefit. How?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Actually, I

          7  would put it the other around. If you don't have the

          8  tax benefits, then the tenants are never going to be

          9  able to afford to purchase the property. They need

         10  the resources to be able to get to the purchase

         11  price. The bill does not guarantee that the tenants

         12  could get control of the property. They need to be

         13  able to raise the money to pay appraised value

         14  which, again, I think in some cases is too high. But

         15  even if they are able to get a discount, they've got

         16  to put together the financing to do that. And

         17  ultimately, that is the most critical component of

         18  preserving the housing. So again, I would say we

         19  need to have and I agree with you, it's not a magic

         20  bullet. No single source of funding is going to be a

         21  magic bullet.

         22                 We need a whole array of different

         23  resources some of which I talked about earlier. Many

         24  of which we should work on to create in the future.

         25  But ultimately, to me, the bedrock issue is having
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          2  the resources available to help the tenants be able

          3  to purchase. That's been true in our till program

          4  and all the other programs where we've worked with

          5  tenants to purchase the property.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't

          7  disagree with you, Commissioner. And with this I

          8  finish, but my point is the following thing. I

          9  cannot favor 388A without favoring 186. I have to

         10  take both in a package. It cannot be separate and

         11  apart. For the Administration to say to us that we

         12  should put our attention in this tax benefits and

         13  forget about these other things is ludicrous. We

         14  have to consider both at the same time because it's

         15  not New York City is going to be a place for rich

         16  people only and nobody else. We cannot afford that.

         17  It's a lot of people here who are middle- income,

         18  low- income that need to be here in this City

         19  because this City belongs to us and it doesn't

         20  belong to the rich and famous only.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I agree, thank

         22  you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25  Thank you, Councilwoman for your help.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No problem. I

          3  go with you anywhere, Madeline.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5  Mutual. We've also been joined by Councilman Comrie.

          6  I see you're wearing a flower today. You must have a

          7  big occasion. Very nice. Well deserved. Council

          8  Member Martinez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair. I promise I will not be passionate.

         11  Commissioner, thank you for your testimony. I just

         12  want to go over some of your statement and see if

         13  it's doable. You mentioned the compromised, the

         14  agreement that were made at the West Village where

         15  tenants came to the table to discuss the issues with

         16  the owners and came to an agreement. But most

         17  importantly, the tenant went out to look for the

         18  money, the finance so they could purchase.

         19  Understanding that, the diversity of New York City

         20  not all communities and residents have the

         21  accessibility to these financial institutions. I

         22  know that under the Mayor's new Marketplace, the $1

         23  billion, $50 million as you mentioned are going

         24  towards repair and upgrade. Correct? For Mitchell-

         25  Lama's?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's right.

          3  Within the $3 billion overall, there is $50 million

          4  which is specifically for a Mitchell- Lama repair

          5  program. There are other resources in addition that

          6  may be available to Mitchell- Lama's. But that's a

          7  brand new program that we created as part of the

          8  plan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: In your

         10  opinion, what would be the difficulty for the

         11  Administration just out of the pot of money for the

         12  new Marketplace, the Administration came out with a

         13  plan for preservation let's say, of repairs and

         14  upgrade of Mitchell- Lama of a total of $50 million.

         15  Correct? What would be the difficulty in your

         16  opinion for the Administration to get additional

         17  dollars to develop the trust fund that Council

         18  Member Gerson alluded to? The trust fund to make the

         19  finance available for these tenants.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all,

         21  in any of these solutions, West Village is an

         22  example, there is always a range of different pieces

         23  to the financing. One part is the government. You

         24  also need to be able to bring private financing as

         25  well. There is a combination of sources that need to
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          2  be brought to the table. From the government side,

          3  we are putting in place a number of those resources.

          4                 One that I didn't mention, but I

          5  would just take a moment to highlight is our new

          6  Ventures Incentive Program which is an acquisition

          7  program and where we have been looking at that to

          8  try and expand it more broadly. We think it's a pool

          9  of $200 million available from seven banks, but with

         10  government resources blended in to make it

         11  affordable. That's a resource that could be used for

         12  acquisition of these properties. There are other

         13  ways that we can help as well. In the West Village

         14  example, the tax benefits are being provided. We did

         15  forgive a second loan that allowed the financing to

         16  go forward. There is a package of things that the

         17  government can do and I think we have created and

         18  we're continuing to create those tools to be

         19  available.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I agree. And

         21  the tax benefit is very important. But if you're

         22  providing that the tax benefit but we're not

         23  providing the finance behind it, for example. And I

         24  know that HPD has a long history and I think leads

         25  the country with the different disposition program
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          2  that HPD runs. But also through these disposition

          3  programs and the partnership such as the Enterprise

          4  Foundation and the partnership, people or these

          5  developers and even tenants or not the tenants so

          6  much, but the private developers and the not- for-

          7  profit also have access to the resources when

          8  properties are disposed and they are now in charged

          9  for doing the repairs and maintaining the

         10  affordability of these units. Correct?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's right.

         12  But again, we do have tools for acquisition

         13  financing that are available and will continue to be

         14  available. I do think that piece of the puzzle is

         15  there for these types of --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So we could

         17  say we're close to what Council Member Gerson is

         18  putting together in terms of what the proposal that

         19  he has forwarded with the trust fund.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Actually, I

         21  haven't seen any legislation on the trust fund. I

         22  don't believe at this point we could say that we're

         23  close on the trust fund. That's not one of the

         24  resources that I talked about. I don't know if

         25  Councilman Gerson wants to address that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I'll defer

          3  to Council Member Gerson and he will have more

          4  knowledge than I do on that particular issue.

          5  However, the main issue here is how do these tenants

          6  have access to the finance to sit down at the table

          7  with the owners to negotiate the compromise. Because

          8  again, we may have the example at the West Village,

          9  but in our communities for example, Council Member

         10  Jackson alluded to 3333 Broadway and I could also

         11  mention a couple of buildings in my district

         12  Wattswood Terrace (phonetic) and so forth that are

         13  under this predicament with HUD. How do they have

         14  the access when they're low- income and may not have

         15  the credits to have access to the finance to

         16  negotiate for a mortgage? I think that's a key

         17  question and I think Council Member Gerson who I

         18  also commend for his leadership on this issue is

         19  presenting in terms of a trust fund that would

         20  provide the asset to the tenants for this. Thank

         21  you, Commissioner and again, I want to commend you

         22  also for your cooperation with us.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I appreciate

         24  it. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council
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          2  Member Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          4  much, Madam Chair. As I am not a member of this

          5  Committee, I want to thank you Madam Chair for your

          6  courtesy in allowing me to have some time to ask

          7  questions. I was taught as saying quit while you're

          8  ahead. I'm tempted to refrain based on the

          9  Commissioner's testimony to refrain from further

         10  questioning because I hear you and I hear you're

         11  willingness and forth comingness to work with us to

         12  see if we can come up with an appropriate piece of

         13  legislation that achieves the goals to which you

         14  testified we share and, of course, as part of that

         15  we would look into the financial component. Again,

         16  knowing you and having tremendous respect for you

         17  and your commitment, I know that you will honor that

         18  commitment. I said, I'm tempted. But I also know I'm

         19  not always to give into temptation. I'll just for

         20  the sake of clarification of a few points, I do want

         21  to pursue a few areas.

         22                 Just first of all, so everyone is

         23  clear -- well, let me just ask. The rent

         24  stabilization bill which the Administration proposed

         25  to the State legislature which I support, is there
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          2  any legislative update that you can bring as any

          3  sense that it may be moving in the Senate

          4  immediately in the next session or are were pretty

          5  much where we left off?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As you may

          7  remember, we had overwhelming support in the

          8  Assembly and did get it passed. It was quite a

          9  tumultuous session this summer. At the end, it was

         10  not one of the things that ended up getting pass the

         11  Senate. At the end --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's me now.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Excuse me?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's me

         15  applauding now.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As the session

         17  reopens in Albany, it will be a top priority for the

         18  Administration. We don't have an update at this

         19  point on any specifics given the session is

         20  upcoming. It continues to be on our priority list of

         21  items in Albany.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You don't have

         23  any new commitments from the Senate leadership?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Unfortunately,

         25  no at this point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The

          3  stabilization bill, that does not encompass the

          4  project- based Section 8, does it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: It does not.

          6  One other thing I would add though on the Senate

          7  side, Ulga Mendez (phonetic) has been terrifically

          8  helpful and supportive of this and continues to help

          9  us in our efforts with senate leadership there. With

         10  her assistance, we're hopeful that we can make some

         11  real progress.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Knowing the

         13  Senate leadership or knowing of them, we probably

         14  need all the help we can get. You don't have to

         15  respond to that comment. This is only a Mitchell-

         16  Lama bill. It does not apply to project- based

         17  Section 8. Is that correct?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And again, the

         20  stabilization it would impose if it's passed, if we

         21  get it through the Senate, would apply the

         22  stabilization laws to the former Mitchell- Lama

         23  units which means that over time, the units would

         24  escape stabilization control and could become

         25  unaffordable or go to market rate. Is that correct?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Well, actually

          3  in addition what it does, is provide incentives to

          4  stay in the program in the first place. As in all of

          5  these cases, I spent a number of years in Washington

          6  working to preserve project- based Section 8 as

          7  well, that you need to provide a combination of sort

          8  of incentives and mandatory changes. You also need

          9  to make sure that you're protecting tenants in the

         10  case that there is a buy out and that's why sticky

         11  vouchers are available and we worked hard when I was

         12  in Washington to make sure that those sticky

         13  vouchers were available. But on the front end, we

         14  also need to provide incentives for folks to stay in

         15  the program in the first place. The Mark Up to

         16  Market Program is one example of that. There was a

         17  recent settlement at Manhattan Plaza which we worked

         18  hard to make sure and in fact, I worked myself on

         19  creating the Mark Up to Market Program in

         20  Washington.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's a great

         22  program.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Just as we're

         24  providing the incentives on the project- based

         25  Section 8 side, we also need to provide the
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          2  incentives on the Mitchell- Lama side and that's

          3  what our bill attempts to do through removing

          4  dividend limitations, setting better rent increases

          5  and other types of things.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I want to

          7  discuss incentives with you and these are, of

          8  course, voluntary incentives. Is that correct?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I do want to

         11  discuss that a little more with you. But in the end

         12   -- go ahead, Commissioner.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I was just

         14  going to say there are parts of the bill that are

         15  voluntary and there are parts that are mandatory. So

         16  it's a combination.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, the

         18  parts that are mandatory are the stabilization

         19  provisions, I take it. That would apply the

         20  stabilization to the former units.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mitchell- Lama

         23  only.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But again,
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          2  under stabilization law, after the stabilization

          3  provisions go to the individual or over time and

          4  over time the unit can become unaffordable if the

          5  owner does not partake of the voluntary incentives

          6  that are also contained in the bill.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's

          8  possible.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         10  Similarly, with the sticky vouchers, the sticky

         11  vouchers preserve affordability for the individual,

         12  but after the individual moves or leaves the program

         13  or for whatever reason is not available, the sticky

         14  vouchers do not protect the unit. That is also

         15  correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         17  And that's exactly why you need to provide a

         18  combination of tenant protections and voluntary

         19  incentives along with certain mandatory changes.

         20  Those three together can form sort of the three legs

         21  of the stool of protecting tenants, but also trying

         22  to preserve affordability.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I would

         24  just add a four legged stool is a lot more stable

         25  than a three legged stool and one of these six could
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          2  provide the fourth leg once we get that done. But

          3  let's just talk very briefly about incentives. By

          4  the way, we support incentives. The predicate of the

          5  bill has been that 186 should be a last resort.

          6  There should be incentives provided including, I

          7  believe the incentives you outlined. But isn't it

          8  the case that given the continued market pressures

          9  in many  neighborhoods, in many communities

         10  throughout this City that the profit motive or the

         11  market place incentives for an owner to go private

         12  could very well in some cases, not all, but in some

         13  cases could very well outweigh any incentives

         14  contained in the proposal. In other words, I think

         15  I'm saying something that's common sense and

         16  obvious.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely. The

         18  market pressures that we've seen throughout the City

         19  have been enormous. At the same time, those market

         20  pressures are lifting the appraised values of all of

         21  these properties. Again, that goes back to my

         22  concern that the bill by focusing on appraised value

         23  and given the rising values that we see throughout

         24  the City may actually work to put these buildings

         25  out of reach of the existing tenants who are
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          2  attempting to purchase them. Again, the appraised

          3  value is something that is very important and the

          4  raising market values in the City only serve to

          5  exacerbate that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But if the

          7  market values are going up anyway and owners have a

          8  right to leave the program, normal economics would

          9  dictate that unless there are provisions such as in

         10  186 or a similar bill that we are able to come up

         11  with, that there is no reason why, there's no

         12  economic reason why the owner would retain the

         13  affordability of the project. You just testified in

         14  some cases the incentives may not outweigh the great

         15  market pressures that we're experiencing in some

         16  parts of the City.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: In fact, what

         18  we have seen in numerous examples where we've been

         19  working with Mitchell- Lama tenants and owners to

         20  preserve affordability to protect tenants in buy

         21  outs and other examples, what we see is that owners

         22  in fact are willing to accept less than market rents

         23  in those settlements. In effect, taking less than

         24  appraised value in those settlements and again

         25  that's exactly what happened in West Village houses.
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          2  By your argument, the owner would have insisted on a

          3  significantly higher price. That is not in fact what

          4  we've seen in these work outs.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let's talk

          6  about West Village Houses. By the way, I take your

          7  point --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's a very

          9  special one.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's why

         11  we're going to talk about that. That's right. I

         12  think as you pointed out, the points you raised fall

         13  in the category of unintended consequences. The good

         14  thing about unintended consequences is that there

         15  are always ways to work out and resolve so we don't

         16  reach an unintended point. I look forward to working

         17  with you to achieving those goals which is why I

         18  said I was tempted to quit while I was ahead.

         19                 But just briefly because you have

         20  repeated cited the West Village Houses and even

         21  though that lies just outside of my district, it

         22  actually lies within one of my community board

         23  districts. In fact, the community board I used to

         24  chair prior to assuming my current position, so I am

         25  very familiar with West Village Houses and the
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          2  scenarios leading up to it. Isn't it the case that

          3  one of the incentives, not the only one, but one of

          4  the incentives which may have prompted the owners to

          5  come to the table were the possibility of lawsuits

          6  and protracted legal proceedings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely. I

          8  would just submit that those possibilities exist not

          9  just at West Village Houses but throughout the City.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But they're

         11  more --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I actually

         13  believe that that is a consistent factor that allows

         14  you to get to prices that are below appraised value.

         15  So I would second what you said and I believe it

         16  applies everywhere; not just at West Village.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, except

         18  the legal proceedings can be a very expensive

         19  proposition. The money that West Village Houses in

         20  and of themselves could raise to support the cost of

         21  legal proceedings, protracted legal proceedings may

         22  not be available to every project- based Section 8

         23  or every rental Mitchell- Lama in every part of the

         24  City.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would
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          2  completely agree. I would also not advocate in

          3  general that as a good housing preservation

          4  strategy. On the other hand --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You're not a

          6  lawyer as you said.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's right.

          8  On the other hand I would say, that the folks

          9  sitting next to me have been in this business quite

         10  a while and I would say that they've seen quite a

         11  few more legal proceedings than simply at West

         12  Village. I do think its a factor and its one of many

         13  factors that lead owners to be willing accept sort

         14  of less than appraised value in various situations.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think

         16  actually the folks sitting next to you, are another

         17  one of those factors. It is correct that they and

         18  your Department invested quite a bit of time in the

         19  negotiations and the review of the West Village

         20  Houses situation. That's my understanding. Is that

         21  correct?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely.

         23  Ironically, more than a year before I become

         24  Commissioner, I was asked by the tenants at West

         25  Village to sit down with them and advise them and

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  one of the most critical things the tenants can do

          3  is early on in the process try and seek out

          4  assistance, financial assistance, legal assistance

          5  and other things. That's an important component over

          6  all of trying to preserving housing is making sure

          7  that they can come to us for our technical

          8  assistance, but also find other assistance as well.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But can you

         10  assure us sitting here today, Commissioner that your

         11  successors and future administrations when you're 40

         12  to 50 years from now retired or wherever you choose

         13  or doing other endeavors, can you assure us (maybe

         14  not so many years), but can you assure us that your

         15  successors will be able, willing and able (two

         16  different factors) to invest the resources necessary

         17  in each and every expiring project- based Section 8

         18  and each and every expiring rental Mitchell- Lama

         19  and each and every expiring development in other

         20  categories such as the old article fours of

         21  Knickerbocker Village and the various hybrids that

         22  we have. I think this is more of a rhetorical

         23  question. Correct me if I'm wrong. I don't think you

         24  or anyone can give us the assurance that as a matter

         25  of Administrative policy, those resources will
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          2  always be available to work as extensively as you

          3  commendably have with the West Village Houses and

          4  others for all 110,000 units of expiring housing in

          5  a lesser number of developments obviously across the

          6  City.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would love to

          8  be able too. That sounds more like something that

          9  would have to be passed in law than something that I

         10  could do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's

         12  probably a good note to conclude on because I think

         13  that is precisely the purpose of 186 to have the

         14  type of law that would assure the availability of

         15  that effort and those resources going, going

         16  forward. And again, this is a comment, by itself, I

         17  think it would prompt the civic and private sector

         18  to step to the plate. But obviously to be most

         19  effective, we need the package of things, the whole

         20  array of financial tools to which you referred in

         21  your testimony. It is my hope that as we work on the

         22  law to assure the availability of the intents and

         23  the efforts that West Village receive, to all

         24  developments that we would also work to pull

         25  together this package of things and whole array in
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          2  some kind of trust fund entity or some other format

          3  so the whole package of things can be available as

          4  frugally as possible to make any right we come up

          5  with as effective as possible.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would agree.

          7  Again, going back to my testimony, I think the most

          8  critical component here is the resources and most of

          9  our energy should be focused around putting those

         10  resources together. Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Coming from a

         12  financial person, I would expect that. As a lawyer,

         13  I think the legal right is also important and I

         14  think as my colleague, Council Member Margarita

         15  pointed out the marriage of the two that really

         16  results efficacious policy. I just need to clarify

         17  and thank you for one point and clarify a point

         18  about the retroactivity. It is certainly not the

         19  intent that anything we pass would undue any

         20  agreement or packages reached previously between

         21  owners and their tenants. Certainly, we need to

         22  revisit that language and make sure that we do not

         23  have that unintended consequence.

         24                 We did want to provide an assurance,

         25  if you, so that those agreements which are
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          2  predicated on the availability of things like the

          3  sticky vouchers, those developments remain

          4  affordable in the eventuality that the sticky

          5  vouchers do to actions beyond our control become

          6  unavailable. But that's a different goal. We're not

          7  talking about unraveling any agreements. We'll

          8  certainly work together on that.

          9                 Also, your comment of preserving or

         10  assuring that affordability of units is preserved.

         11  That is the stated intention. I thought we had

         12  language in there which accomplishes that. But

         13  certainly, this entire bill is predicated on the

         14  permanency of the affordability and again not the

         15  type of sham or fraud I spoke about with Council

         16  Member Barron so that people buy out and then they

         17  reap a windfall. We want to preserve housing stock.

         18  That's the intent of the bill and that's what I look

         19  forward to working with you, all of us look forward

         20  to working with you to achieve with your leadership.

         21  Thank you very much.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Go right

         24  ahead.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Commissioner,
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          2  this is a comment separate and apart from this. It's

          3  something that I want you to be aware. In my

          4  district, I have worked with HPD in many projects

          5  very successfully. Many of them are under

          6  construction right now in my district. It used to be

          7  a practice that the signs that were put in front of

          8  this building included the Council Members name who

          9  made this possible. For reasons that I don't

         10  understand, the Administration has excluded the name

         11  of the Council Member at least in my district. I'm

         12  surprised about that. Because I know that Mayor

         13  Bloomberg would not do something like that. This man

         14  can share the light with a lot of people because

         15  he's a decent person. I want to call that to your

         16  attention because at least four different projects

         17  in my district that are under construction right now

         18  that the name of the Council Member in this case is

         19  me, has been totally excluded. I would like you to

         20  look it into because I don't appreciate that.

         21  Particularly when I put my time, my money and my

         22  energy behind it.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I will look

         24  into that immediately. Nothing has changed since I

         25  have been here. I was not aware that there had even
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          2  been change. So we'll look into that right away.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's not

          4  happening. The signs that you put in front of this

          5  buildings no longer contain the name of the Council

          6  Member. I would not say nothing to you if I was not

          7  involved. But in each and every one of them, I got

          8  the capital dollars. I got the land and the

          9  disposition. Therefore, --

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We can't thank

         11  you enough for all the help that you've been on

         12  those projects. We'll get on it right away.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then thank you.

         14  I want the credit.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I like to

         17  deposit money in the bank and be told that I did

         18  that. Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: How about at

         20  least just right here we give you the credit?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We have one

         24  more question from Council Member Gerson and he is

         25  assured me he will be brief.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Actually this

          3  is more in the category of a technical question and

          4  feel free to get back to us. The question is whether

          5  or not you believe and the City Administration

          6  believes that HDC or one of its subsidiaries could

          7  either provide funding or facilitate funding, such

          8  as providing mortgage insurance in tenant

          9  association or community organization buy-outs of

         10  owners. In other words, I guess fundamentally we

         11  need to inquire and flush out a potential law for

         12  HDC and it's financial instruments. I don't know if

         13  you have any thoughts on that now. If not, you can

         14  get back to us.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Actually, it's

         16  in the West Village Houses, for example, HDC has

         17  already played a role. There is nothing that I know

         18  of that would stop that currently.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's

         20  important to know. Thank you very much again.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         23  Commissioner. As always, I appreciate you being here

         24  and your staff. You're fortunate to have the staff

         25  you do.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes, I am.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I know that

          4  the promises you made about sitting down with the

          5  Committee and some of the folks, you will follow

          6  through on. HPD is -- wait a minute. I think you're

          7  not off the hook yet.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm happy to

          9  stay for Councilwoman Brewer.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilwoman

         11  Brewer had a question and she was in another

         12  hearing. She made it just in the nick of time. Where

         13  are you?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thanks, Shaun.

         15  I'm late because I was over at Parks. I apologize.

         16  This is my quick question. I think that your

         17  testimony regarding the history of your work and

         18  HPD's work and all the different aspects of trying

         19  to provide affordable housing is commendable. As you

         20  know, we have on the West side, 24 Mitchell- Lama's,

         21  many of them privatized. My question is the reason

         22  that Alan's bill makes some sense to me is that in

         23  communities like Manhattan where the per square foot

         24  is so high and where we're trying desperately to end

         25  up with an island that is middle- class housing and

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  people as opposed to rich and poor which is what we

          3  could end up with.

          4                 This bill gives the opportunity to

          5  have our communities remain in tact so to speak.

          6  Even though you're talking about these wonderful

          7  programs aiming to build affordable housing, what is

          8  the plan to have other than this, what ideas to

          9  continue even in a high per square foot situation

         10  where I know you don't want to put a dollar because

         11  you can put it elsewhere to build or convert and it

         12  goes further. That's the argument that I'm always

         13  being told. That's why this bill makes some sense

         14  particularly in the place where we're trying so hard

         15  to preserve the diversity. I guess that's my

         16  question. It's very general, but the other programs

         17  that you list are often not available to the income

         18  for the person who's trying to stay in Manhattan.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Well, I don't

         20  mean to harp on it too much. But again, in West

         21  Village there's an example where in one of the

         22  hottest markets in all of New York City, we were

         23  able to put together a package of tools to be able

         24  to keep that affordable. Manhattan Plaza is another

         25  example where Mark Up to Market which is exactly
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          2  targeted at those high rent areas combined with the

          3  incentives that the City was able to provide, kept

          4  it affordable in those areas. I do think that the

          5  range of tools that we're talking about can be

          6  effective in those areas.

          7                 In addition, we're trying to pair

          8  those with incentives like exclusionary zoning which

          9  in new construction in those areas try to harness

         10  the high rents and use the fact that there is a high

         11  rent in those areas to create affordable housing.

         12  Almost as a resource, if you will, to give the owner

         13  an incentive to create affordable housing as well. I

         14  think there are tools that we can use both on the

         15  preservation side and on the new construction side

         16  in those areas. I won't say that's not harder today

         17  given those rents, but we continue to try and find

         18  new and creative ways to do that. We're having some

         19  success.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. 733

         21  Amsterdam, everybody can buy their apartment. I'm

         22  just teasing you Shaun. Thank you very much. Thank

         23  you, Madam Chair. Did you say yes at 733, Shaun?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Um --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, he said

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  um --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I said, I've go

          4  the wheelbarrow with me.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          6  much. He's an amazingly good Commissioner. Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         10  again.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: My pleasure,

         12  thanks.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Now we'll be

         14  hearing from some of the folks, hopefully everybody

         15  that wants to speak has signed in. We'll be putting

         16  the speakers on a two minute clock. If you have in

         17  front of you a piece of paper that you think will

         18  take longer than two minutes, I suggest that you

         19  synopsize it. You could hand in your original

         20  testimony. Also, as I'm calling up, we have Ed Yaker

         21  and David Smith. Come to the speaker's desk. We will

         22  only be taking one person from each group So if

         23  there is a whole tenant's group here, there will be

         24  only one speaker. Thank you. Either one of you can

         25  start.
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          2                 MR. YAKER: My name is Ed Yaker. I'm

          3  President of the Amalgamated Houses in the Bronx.

          4  I'm here in support of Resolution 388. I'm very

          5  happy to see that the City Council is in the same

          6  place. It seems to me a matter of details.

          7                 First, I'd like to invite each of you

          8  to an exhibit at the Museum of the City of New York

          9  from November 9 through March 20. It's called

         10  Radicals in the Bronx. It focuses on four housing

         11  co- ops built in the 1920's. The Coops on Allerton

         12  Avenue, the Scholem Alechem, the Amalgamated Houses

         13  and the Farband Houses. The radical idea these

         14  people had was that working men and women could own

         15  their own homes through cooperation. What was

         16  radical in the 1920's is not radical today.

         17                 The Coops and Scholem Alechem failed

         18  as co- ops and became rentals. Amalgamated succeeded

         19  and many people believe that it is our success that

         20  lead to the growth of limited equity co- op housing.

         21  We're known throughout the nation. We get visitors

         22  from other states, other countries. The history is

         23  important because even in 1926 with the Limited

         24  Dividend Law and I noticed the Commissioner,

         25  everyone talks in terms of Mitchell- Lama, no one
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          2  understands Limited Dividend. The Limited Dividend

          3  Law from 1926 said you need incentives to create

          4  affordable decent housing. Yes. Even then, the

          5  incentive end was the City could give tax

          6  abatements. They had very few takers. The

          7  Amalgamated Clothing Union took them up because they

          8  were taking on principal, not on profit.

          9                 The thought was we'll give the

         10  abatement for a limited time, but gee by the time

         11  that abatement expires, they'll will have paid off

         12  their mortgage and they can pay the taxes. Well,

         13  nobody has paid off mortgages. We've expanded

         14  capital. No one realized how much it cost to fix a

         15  roof or fix plumbing. We've had to take mortgages

         16  and our mortgage now is $13 million for Amalgamated;

         17  we're 1,482 apartments.

         18                 I want to confront directly an issue

         19  that's come up in discussion since the concept of

         20  new abatements arose. Mitchell- Lama's are currently

         21  on shelter rent. So an additional abatement doesn't

         22  cost the City new money; it's just continuing in

         23  abatement. Our abatement's have ended. We've got

         24  less than 50 years. But we've been on the full tax

         25  roll and people say no one is going to want to give
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          2  you a new abatement because that's going to cost the

          3  City money.

          4                 I want to make two important reasons

          5  why we should receive the additional abatement

          6  provided in the State's legislation and provided in

          7  388A. First it's fair. Amalgamated has the same

          8  restrictions, the same income limits, the same

          9  supervision by DHCR as anyone else. Why shouldn't we

         10  get the same abatement as Mitchell- Lama's get?

         11  Second, if Amalgamated is denied these abatements,

         12  our shareholders might vote to go private, removing

         13  1,500 units from the affordable housing market. The

         14  cost as you know of creating 1,500 new units of

         15  affordable housing is a lot greater than abatement.

         16                 Amalgamated remains in the Limited

         17  Dividend program voluntarily. To the best of my

         18  knowledge, we're the only co- op paying full taxes

         19  that remains in the program. We have a Board of

         20  Directors that believes in affordable housing --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You are

         22  coming to the end of your four minutes. Right?

         23                 MR. YAKER: My two minutes. I haven't

         24  seen the clock.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It's now
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          2  four.

          3                 MR. YAKER: If the clock isn't

          4  working, tell me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: The clock

          6  stopped at two minutes and you kept going. That's

          7  the problem.

          8                 MR. YAKER: I'm sorry. Anyway, the

          9  basic problem is if we don't get our abatements, I

         10  can't tell you that our cooperatives are going to

         11  stay in the program.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         13  You see those big red zeros over there, everybody.

         14  That's the clock. If it's off you're on.

         15                 MR. SMITH: Am I on now? Thank you. I

         16  want to thank the HPD and the State Division for

         17  supporting this bill 388 which continues the tax

         18  abatement for 50 years. The State passed it

         19  unanimously. It is now up to the City Council to

         20  have it applied in the City. Let me give you an idea

         21  of what happens when an cooperative went private.

         22  The two cooperatives, Penn South which did not go

         23  private and the East River that went private.

         24                 A one bedroom apartment downtown

         25  where they went private is $398,000. In Penn South,
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          2  it is $18,000. A two bedroom is $550,000 when they

          3  went private and Penn South is $23,000. A three

          4  bedroom is $750,000 and Penn South is $29,000.

          5  That's affordable rent. You have to preserve it. In

          6  preserving it, is extending the 50 year tax

          7  abatement. There are two Mitchell- Lama cooperatives

          8  that are on the block right now. You should know

          9  that there are no Mitchell- Lama cooperatives that

         10  are going private. None.  Cooperatives, Mitchell-

         11  Lama housing as rental. These two co- ops are in

         12  Manhattan and in Brooklyn.

         13                 The passage of this bill as quickly

         14  as possible will help those cooperators who do not

         15  want to go private to convince them. Let's not be

         16  greedy. Let's keep this affordable and this 50 year

         17  extension will make it affordable. I want to thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Do we have

         20  any questions?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I just want to

         22  say, Mr. Smith, it's so good to see you looking so

         23  well. Keep up your good work.

         24                 MR. SMITH: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you
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          2  both. Next we have Peggy Earisman, Legal Services;

          3  Victor Bach, James Grow, Professor Paula Franzese

          4  with Maria Anderson. Paula will be giving the

          5  testimony. We have a chair in the back for her.

          6  Paula you should sit there. We're fine. I just ask

          7  you to remember that you're on a two minute clock.

          8  Decide amongst you who will speak first. I would

          9  assume it's one of the females. Paula, go. They

         10  can't seem to make up their mind.

         11                 PROFESSOR FRANZESE: Good afternoon.

         12  My name is Paula Franzese. I am the Peter W. Rodino,

         13  Professor of Law at Seton Hall University School of

         14  Law. I am here to represent first that I respect

         15  Councilman Alan Gerson immensely. And I believe

         16  deeply in the integrity as well as the lawfulness of

         17  the Tenant Empowerment Act. For the past six months,

         18  I've been privilege to chair a task force charged

         19  with assessing the legality, the lawfulness, the

         20  legal propriety of this very important initiative.

         21  And I'm delighted to conclude that after an in-

         22  depth assessment of the relevant issues including

         23  the potential Eminent Domain issues, we are able to

         24  render the conclusion that this initiative is not

         25  only so very important, but actually passes legal
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          2  muster and deserves every opportunity to succeed.

          3                 Put into context, we know this nation

          4  is in the throws of an assault on affordable

          5  housing. New York City's precious stock of Mitchell-

          6  Lama housing must be preserved and protected. New

          7  York City needs to get with the program. This

          8  initiative models and embraces the spirit as well as

          9  the caliber of other very successful initiatives

         10  launched in other jurisdictions. It is about time

         11  for this initiative to pass. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. If

         13  the lights off, it's on.

         14                 MR. GROW: Good afternoon, Madam

         15  Chairman and Council Members. My name is James Grow

         16  from the National Housing Law Project in Oakland,

         17  California. We're a non- profit law firm that works

         18  with tenant organizations, legal services,

         19  advocates, other housing advocates and non- profit

         20  housing developers and State and local governments

         21  to preserve the existing stock of affordable housing

         22  improve and expanded.

         23                 It's a great honor to be here today.

         24  But I do want reiterate that the reason we're doing

         25  this work, all of us, and the reason why its so
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          2  amazing to see so many people here is because we're

          3  talking about people's homes. I think that's what

          4  gets lost in a lot of the political wrangling

          5  between local government and Washington about the

          6  Federal affordable housing programs.

          7                 The crown jewel in this process is

          8  the project- based Section 8 contract. That is the

          9  vehicle by which the Federal government provides

         10  housing assistance to extremely low- income families

         11  to enable them to continue to afford to live in

         12  these developments. If we lose that, we've lost a

         13  lot. So we need strategies to preserve that

         14  contract. The Federal government, as some of you may

         15  be aware, over the last ten years has been

         16  retreating from its commitment to preserve

         17  affordable housing. We had a program that operated

         18  for the better part of the 1990's to preserve this

         19  housing stock. Where the Federal government said

         20  this is important, let's preserve these homes and

         21  we're going to pay for it through the Title 6

         22  LIHPRHA, Low- Income Housing Preservation Act

         23  Program.

         24                 The Federal government retreated from

         25  that after the election in 1994 and now we're left
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          2  to pick up the crumbs. The State and Local

          3  governments play a very valuable role in filling

          4  that gap. I'm very encouraged by your efforts here

          5  today. The Intro 186 as I go into detail in my

          6  testimony, Intro 186 is an effort which mirrors that

          7  which other State and local governments have passed.

          8  However, I think it's even better than most because

          9  it gets at the fundamental question of should the

         10  housing be preserved. In all of the other

         11  jurisdictions, the right of first refusals that have

         12  been created have been largely ineffective because

         13  they're triggered only by an owner's desire to sell

         14  the property.

         15                 Instead, Intro 186 would be triggered

         16  by the owners conversion of the subsidy so that the

         17  tenants, the non- profits, the public sector can

         18  move to preserve the property before the subsidy is

         19  converted. Thus preserving the crown jewel here. The

         20  only other jurisdiction that does that so far is

         21  Illinois and Maine. In Illinois, the statute

         22  recently passed this summer was signed by the

         23  Governor hasn't yet been implemented. So we don't

         24  know much about its historical experience. But I'd

         25  like to commend the Council and am available to
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          2  answer any questions that you might have whether

          3  today or subsequently. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 MS. EARISMAN: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Peggy Earisman and I am the Interim Project

          7  Director of the Legal Services for New York City

          8  Manhattan Office. We are here today in support of

          9  Intro 186. Legal Services represents thousands and

         10  thousands and thousands of New Yorkers each year in

         11  civil legal matters. And by far, the greatest demand

         12  for the service from our offices is for lawyers to

         13  assist tenants facing evictions from their

         14  apartments.

         15                 I have submitted extensive written

         16  testimony which details exactly how great the

         17  affordable housing shortage is in this City. We talk

         18  about there being an affordable housing shortage.

         19  But the numbers are staggering. The waiting list for

         20  public housing includes 142,000 families on waiting

         21  lists for public housing in New York City. Because

         22  of the complicated admission process, the fact of

         23  the matter is there are families in this City that

         24  will wait their entire lifetime and will never get

         25  an opportunity to get an existing public housing
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          2  apartment.

          3                 The Section 8 waiting list is closed.

          4  If you're not on the list now, you're not going to

          5  be able to get on that list. And you will never get

          6  a chance to get a Section 8 existing voucher. The

          7  tight housing market gets even worse for apartments

          8  under $500. We see in my office people paying $30 a

          9  night to stay in a cubicle. A Bowery lodging house

         10  cubicle, $30 a night. That's over $900 a month. And

         11  we see senior citizens paying more than their SSI

         12  checks in order to live in their apartments. The

         13  rents of $651, the SSI check of less.

         14                 I currently represent two disabled

         15  tenants facing eviction from their homes because

         16  their landlord paid off an Article 8 loan from the

         17  State and they've lost the rent protections afforded

         18  by that subsidy. Neither of them have been able to

         19  find housing. One is moving in with his sister on

         20  Saturday and hoping to be one of the lucky 14 people

         21  to get a subsidized apartment in a new development

         22  out of the thousands who have applied.

         23                 It is against this backdrop that we

         24  face the loss of thousands of units of subsidized

         25  housing. We cannot let this happen. The proposed
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          2  legislation is a critical first step to allow a

          3  method for tenants to preserve their homes and avoid

          4  the devastating consequence of the further loss of

          5  subsidized housing in the City of New York and we

          6  urge the passage of Intro 186.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          8  very much. Mr. Bach.

          9                 MR. BACH: I'm Victor Bach. I'm with

         10  the Community Service Society. I want to thank the

         11  Committee for the opportunity to testify in strong

         12  support of Intro 186. There are couple of points

         13  that I want to make from the testimony. One is that

         14  the hemorrhaging of our affordable stock is

         15  accelerating. It's not slowing down. It's moving

         16  faster. The bill cites CSS report which was done a

         17  year and a half ago which estimated that ten percent

         18   -- we were focusing on the HUD subsidized stock in

         19  New York City, largely the project- based Section 8

         20  housing and we found in that report a year and a

         21  half ago that 10 percent of the stock were losses

         22  were in sight. Within three months from issuing that

         23  report, we had an upward revision of that figure and

         24  it was to 14 percent of the stock had losses in

         25  sight. Now a year later, it looks like the figures
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          2  are closer to 20 to 25 percent. We're now working at

          3  a systematic update of a report and we'll let you

          4  know. But the losses are growing at a very rapid

          5  rate. Most of them occurring within recent years.

          6                 Secondly, CSS for the past three

          7  years has been doing an annual survey of low- income

          8  New Yorkers. I think it's important to make the

          9  point that the housing alarms that you hear sounded

         10  today by concerned tenants who happen to live in

         11  subsidized housing are the alarms that are sounded

         12  by most low- and moderate- income New Yorkers in New

         13  York City. They are not alone. This is an issue that

         14  goes beyond just the subsidized stock which we must

         15  preserve. Very briefly, when you ask individuals

         16  what the most pressing problem is in this City,

         17  they'll answer jobs and the economy. But when you

         18  ask them what their biggest worry is, it's

         19  affordable housing. The roughly 40 percent of low-

         20  income New Yorkers will cite that as their greatest

         21  worry. That is when jobs and economy are the problem

         22  as they are now. That comes to the forefront every

         23  month when you pay your highest bill which is your

         24  bill for rent. These are issues in the assisted

         25  stock and elsewhere and we have the opportunity
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          2  today to preserving our assisted stock. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          4  very much. Councilwoman James, you have questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good afternoon,

          6  panel. As you know right now the City is facing and

          7  the City Council is also considering a significant

          8  number of policy questions with respect to the use

          9  and/or abuse of Eminent Domain. As I analyze this

         10  bill and as I consider what is happening in Brooklyn

         11  with respect to the abuse of Eminent Domain for the

         12  purposes of, I believe, a private developer that it

         13  is interrogation of the Eminent Domain law in the

         14  State of New York. Because the purpose for which

         15  they are taking private property in Brooklyn is for

         16  private purposes and not for publicly purposes.

         17                 As opposed to this bill, I believe

         18  this bill is for public purpose. The preservation of

         19  affordable housing is a public purpose. I believe

         20  the taking of private property for just compensation

         21  related to the preservation of public housing will

         22  pass a constitutional muster and therefore, I

         23  support this piece of legislation. But the other

         24  criticism that I have been hearing is that this bill

         25   -- we are preempted, this bill is preempted by the
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          2  Urstadt Law. If someone could just provide me with

          3  some counsel with regards to an analysis of that

          4  issue, I would greatly appreciate it. And does it

          5  require a humble message?

          6                 PROFESSOR FRANZESE: Yes,

          7  Councilwoman. I would like to introduce into the

          8  record the Task Force Legal Director, Maria

          9  Anderson.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         11                 PROFESSOR FRANZESE: We have submitted

         12  briefs to the Council on the relevant legal matters

         13  including the preemption and the preclusion issues.

         14  Maria will speak to that very good question.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         16                 MS. ANDERSON: Good afternoon,

         17  everyone. You have a packet of information before

         18  you and I believe the memo that addresses that issue

         19  is attached --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: State your

         21  name, please.

         22                 MS. ANDERSON: I'm sorry. Maria

         23  Cristiano Anderson. In the packet of information

         24  that was distributed there is three memos attached

         25  as Exhibits A, B, C and I believe the memo that
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          2  address this issue is attached to Exhibit B. In a

          3  nutshell, we did examine that issue in great detail

          4  and examined all the cases that were published that

          5  challenged local laws on the basis that they may

          6  have violated the Urstadt Law. Generally, the case

          7  law holds that if the ordinance or the City

          8  legislation isn't specifically regulating rent

          9  control, then it's not prohibitive by the Urstadt

         10  Law.

         11                 Our memo goes into detail on one case

         12  that's directly on point. It's Seawall Associates.

         13  That's the case you may recall challenged the City

         14  ordinance that sought to preserve single room

         15  occupancy dwellings. That case the court

         16  specifically held that the legislation since it

         17  sought to preserve affordable housing wasn't

         18  prohibited by the Urstadt Law.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. I

         20  would hope that Rutgers Law School and any other law

         21  school and any other attorneys would provide some

         22  assistance to the residents of Prospect Heights,

         23  Clinton Hill, Fort Green in their fight against the

         24  abuse of Eminent Domain. Thank you.

         25                 PROFESSOR FRANZESE: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          3  Member Gerson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          5  much, Madam Chair. Thank each of you for your

          6  testimony and for your commitment to this cause and

          7  your work on this bill. We are going to need to

          8  continue to work very closely together as we move on

          9  in this process to the second hearing and eventually

         10  to implementation of this bill. But for now in order

         11  to get it through all the witnesses, I'm going to be

         12  very, very, very brief. My colleagues, Council

         13  Member James, preempted, as she usually does, but in

         14  a much more thorough way than I could ever do one of

         15  my questions. On the issue of condonation and the

         16  legal issues we face, I just want to thank very much

         17  again, Professor Franzese for whom I have the

         18  highest of regard both professional and personal and

         19  her Seton Hall team, Maria Anderson for the

         20  excellent brief you submitted. And for the record,

         21  Virginia Pinchiona (phonetic), Rashan Montry

         22  (phonetic) and Tanisha Hantsford (phonetic).

         23                 Council Member James, I'll say that

         24  you couldn't have a better legal team and if you

         25  approach Professor Franzese, you should know that
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          2  she's a native Brooklynite. So maybe you'll have an

          3  opportunity --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I said Rutgers

          5  and I apologized. Seton Hall.

          6                 PROFESSOR FRANZESE: Oh, thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you all

          8  very, very much. We will continue to work together.

          9  I said I would be brief. Mr. Grow, thank you very,

         10  very much for coming. I think you get the prize for

         11  coming the furthest away. Madam Chair, you should

         12  know that he is traveled in from the State of

         13  California. We could break the rule about applause

         14  in this case.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No breaking

         16  rules.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Uh, oh. I'll

         18  pay for that. But thank you very, very much. Since

         19  you did come from so far, let me just ask you kind

         20  of generally. You heard the Commissioner's testimony

         21  and we do expect to work collaboratively with the

         22  Commissioner and the Administration. But he seemed

         23  to kind of down grade the importance of the legal

         24  right. He seemed to say it's all a financial

         25  question. You don't need to establish any new legal
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          2  right. I think you heard our concern that we need

          3  both. From your experience as head of the National

          4  Law Project and then anyone else should feel free to

          5  jump in, is the creation of this type of legal

          6  process important from your experience and from your

          7  professional view.

          8                 MR. GROW: Well, I'd like to start by

          9  saying that I have the highest respect as well as

         10  for the Commissioner. Because when he was at HUD,

         11  they did good things finally for preservation for a

         12  couple of years before there was yet another

         13  election.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: He has a

         15  different boss now.

         16                 MR. GROW: I think he express some

         17  legitimate concerns. But it sounds like in the

         18  spirit of cooperation, most of these things are

         19  resolvable. It is true that the challenge even if we

         20  pass 186 is going to be to find the resources. We

         21  have to work very hard to make that happen. So there

         22  is no dispute about that. I think the thing I would

         23  take issue with is the fact that just because you

         24  have resources doesn't enable you to purchase these

         25  properties. Because the owner might just say no. If
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          2  we're interested in preserving the affordability of

          3  the property, preserving it as a resource for not

          4  only the existing tenants, but for those who come

          5  after who have similar needs. It's absolutely vital

          6  that we make the conversion decision into a public

          7  policy

          8  decision which is what 186 does and what the

          9  Illinois Preservation Act does.

         10                 It is not enough to simply create the

         11  right for a non- profit or a tenant organization to

         12  get resources from the City assuming they could do

         13  that and go try to make a deal with every owner

         14  because some owners will not play ball.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Anything we

         16  could learn from those states which have laws

         17  triggered by the sell out or the sale of affordable

         18  housing development to new profit market rate

         19  owners, is there anything we could learn about the

         20  efficacy of tenant or tenant association or

         21  community organization purchasing in order to

         22  accomplish preservation.

         23                 MR. GROW: Well, first of all, just as

         24  a point of clarification, most of the states

         25  statutes reviewed in my testimony actually operate
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          2  as a right of first refusal. In other words, they're

          3  triggered only by the owners desire to sell the

          4  property. Because of that, they haven't been used

          5  very much because what happens is that owners first

          6  convert to subsidy. They terminate the subsidy

          7  arrangement either by opt out or prepayment and so

          8  they then escape the law's coverage by terminating

          9  the subsidy first. Then their sale is no longer

         10  regulated. We can't really learn very much from that

         11  experience other than let's not do it that way.

         12  Instead, we have to focus on what we're trying to

         13  achieve and what we're trying to achieve is a

         14  preservation of the subsidy arrangement so that we

         15  can preserve affordable housing. We have to

         16  structure whatever we do with the proposed

         17  conversion of that subsidy as the trigger for the

         18  laws coverage.

         19                 As the tenant purchasing and non-

         20  profits I would say purchasing because in a lot of

         21  situations, the tenants are going to have to partner

         22  up with another organization that has capacity that

         23  has done this before. Because we're talking about

         24  fairly complicated financial transaction where

         25  you've got to pull together a myriad sources of
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          2  financing and subsidy within a limited time frame

          3  and make it all work. Typically, there is going to

          4  be partnerships developed here between tenants and

          5  non- profit organizations. But we have had

          6  experience with that. The Federal Preservation

          7  Program that existed for the better part of 1990's,

          8  the low- income preservation act did regulate the

          9  owners ability to convert. It said you cannot

         10  convert and in exchange for that, we're going to

         11  provide federally financed incentives so that you

         12  can stay in the program or if you don't want to, you

         13  can sell to a non- profit and we will provide the

         14  resources to make that happen. Many of those non-

         15  profits partnered up with tenant organizations to

         16  accomplish that. In some situations, tenant

         17  organizations bought the buildings themselves.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It is fair to

         19  say that because such organizations operate on

         20  principals other than a profit making enterprise,

         21  they might be in a better or preferred position to

         22  preserve the affordability? Naturally, giving you a

         23  hint

         24                 MR. GROW: You have substantially

         25  reduced the risk that downstream the building is
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          2  going to be again converted to a market rate use.

          3  That's very, very important. When the Commissioner

          4  said for example, let's make sure that if we're

          5  going to this, one of the features of the

          6  requirements has to be continuing affordability

          7  restrictions. I doubt anybody would have a dispute

          8  with doing that and explicitly specifying that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Absolutely

         10  not. Finally, should we take the fact that you did

         11  come from so far away as testimony in and of itself

         12  that passing 186 would be important to nationwide

         13  efforts and the struggle to preserve affordable

         14  housing?

         15                 MR. GROW: Certainly.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Any follow up

         17  comments. Thank you all, very, very, very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Wait a

         19  minute. Does anybody else have questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No one? Okay.

         23  Thank you. John Doyle, Donald Halperin, Bernard Carr

         24  and Frank Ricci is the next panel. I'm having the

         25  lights lowered because it's just awful in here with
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          2  those lights. I don't know if I see you're waving.

          3  Okay. Come on, John. Okay, guys, fight over who

          4  starts and then --

          5                 MR. DOYLE: I drew the short straw.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh, okay.

          7                 MR. DOYLE: Good afternoon, my name is

          8  John Doyle. I'm Vice President for Government

          9  Affairs with the Real Estate Board of New York. I'm

         10  going to read a statement that's been prepared by

         11  our staff on this matter. On behalf of the Real

         12  Estate Board of New York, a trade association of

         13  over 6,000 owners, brokers and managers of

         14  commercial and residential real estate, including

         15  many developers of affordable housing, I urge you to

         16  reject Introduction 186.

         17            Following the rules of Federal, State and

         18  City programs developed over several decades,

         19  property owners created tens of thousands of units

         20  of affordable housing for New Yorkers. These rules

         21  carefully balanced the interests of both property

         22  owners and residents. Changing the rules now would

         23  be a serious breach of faith and would dissuade

         24  investors from creating much needed units of new

         25  affordable housing in the future.
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          2                 The City Council does not have the

          3  authority to impose the requirements proposed in

          4  Intro 186 on owners. New York State put the

          5  Mitchell- Lama program in place in the Private

          6  Housing Finance Law. The City is barred from passing

          7  a law which conflicts with it under our

          8  constitution's home rule provisions. The Private

          9  Housing Finance Law is a comprehensive statute which

         10  gives owners an unfettered, unqualified right to

         11  convert after the prescribed time period without the

         12  consent of the regulatory agency. It would be ruled

         13  unconstitutional by the courts on the grounds that

         14  the City is preempted by the State.

         15                 Further, Intro 186 would require

         16  owners who have played by the rules for years and

         17  have met their obligations to sell their property

         18  whether they want to or not. Property owners entered

         19  into a long- term contract with the government to

         20  provide affordable housing, accepting a limited

         21  return for a significant period of time, in return

         22  for tax and financing benefits. Those owners have

         23  fulfilled their obligations. They are now legally

         24  permitted to convert these properties to market rate

         25  housing. To limit their rents and to require them to
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          2  sell their property is a clear violation of their

          3  property rights and therefore, unconstitutional.

          4                 Members of REBNY's Housing Committee

          5  currently participate in virtually all of the

          6  programs available to develop low-, moderate- and

          7  middle- income housing. This bill sends a message to

          8  them that you can't rely on government to fulfill

          9  its commitment in these projects. We are

         10  successfully producing thousands of units of

         11  affordable housing which have as their foundation

         12  the same contract between government and the private

         13  developer as Mitchell- Lama and other government

         14  assisted projects.

         15                 Namely, the developer agrees to

         16  provide affordable housing for the life of the

         17  benefit provided by government. When the benefit

         18  expires, the housing may return to market rate. This

         19  is the underlying principal of the requirement that

         20  housing receiving 421A or J51 tax abatements is rent

         21  regulated for the period during which it receives

         22  the abatement. At the end of that period, it goes to

         23  market. Likewise, the tax exempt financing, 20

         24  percent of the units are maintained for low- income

         25  tenants for the life of the tax exempt bonds. How

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  can we expect people to develop much needed

          3  affordable housing today which rely on the very

          4  principal Intro 186 would destroy? How can we

          5  attract investors to affordable housing in New York

          6  if we can't provide the expected safeguards and

          7  returns?

          8                 This bill could have serious impacts

          9  on affordable housing projects by making it

         10  impossible to obtain financing. By restricting the

         11  disposition of properties, lenders may be unwilling

         12  to make loans, and tax credit or other investors

         13  will be hesitate to invest. Many projects that are

         14  currently refinancing to preserve the affordability

         15  of the project will be unable to do so. Many

         16  projects that need capital have transactions

         17  pending. Passage of this bill will open up a

         18  Pandora's box of technical issues which will, at

         19  best, cause confusion and delay in raising funds and

         20  completing transactions.

         21                 One of the fictions of this bill is

         22  that the owner will not be financially hurt because

         23  he is being paid the appraised value. This will be

         24  untrue in many instances as the assessed evaluation

         25  will not cover the tax consequences of a forced sale
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          2  on long- term investors. Furthermore, by compelling

          3  a sale, an owner's ability to negotiate a fair

          4  contract is severely compromised.

          5                 One of the most egregious provisions

          6  in this bill is one that makes it applicable to

          7  projects where the owner and the tenants have come

          8  to an agreement.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Read faster.

         10                 MR. DOYLE: That's already been

         11  covered by Mr. Gerson. Even worse if that's

         12  possible, these provisions are retroactive. If a

         13  project did not complete the conversion process by

         14  December 3, 2003, the bill applies. In summary,

         15  REBNY members share the Council's goal of providing

         16  and preserving affordable housing. But breaking the

         17  contracts entered into decades ago between

         18  government and the private sector could clearly be a

         19  breach of faith resulting in a loss of trust in

         20  government and would seriously discourage investment

         21  in affordable housing production.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, who's

         23  next.

         24                 MR. RICCI: I'm next. Frank Ricci, I'm

         25  the Director of Government Affairs for the Rent
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          2  Stabilization Association. We represent 25,000

          3  owners in New York City. Collectively that contains

          4  one million units of housing and their buildings.

          5  I'm really going to focus my comments on one aspect

          6  of what my colleague, John just had to say. And that

          7  has to do with the contract that developers make

          8  with government. Government has a reputation in two

          9  very notably areas over the last 50 years of

         10  breaking that contract with developers, people who

         11  produce affordable housing. Namely, rent regulation

         12  where from 1946 to 1974, government said, don't

         13  worry. We're not going to re- regulate you and then

         14  they did.

         15                 In the 421A program where they said,

         16  look, once your tax abatement expires, you go free

         17  market. In 1985, the government decided to change

         18  that and make that only upon vacancy. By breaching

         19  that contract in two major ways, that adds risk to

         20  any type of housing development program that

         21  government may offer. We can debate the reasons why

         22  you need all these various subsidy programs for

         23  affordable housing in New York City, but one aspect

         24  has to do with risk. Just by even having this

         25  hearing today, by introducing a bill like this, you
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          2  as government representatives are introducing more

          3  risk into all the subsidy programs that owners have

          4  to avail themselves of to develop housing in this

          5  City.

          6                 In doing so, future developers and

          7  current developers, people who have projects on the

          8  books or trying to get them through need to somehow

          9  reduce that risk. Which means they need a deeper

         10  subsidy. We're opposed to Intro 186 because once

         11  again, it's just another signal from government that

         12  they cannot be trusted and ultimately it's going to

         13  drive the cost of affordable housing up for everyone

         14  in the City. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16  Mr. Carr.

         17                 MR. CARR: Good afternoon, I'm Bernie

         18  Carr. I'm Executive Director of the New York State

         19  Association for Affordable Housing. I'm here today

         20  with our governmental representative, Don Halperin.

         21  I want to thank you all for giving us the

         22  opportunity to come and speak today.

         23                 NYSAFAH is a State- wide organization

         24  of developers and others involved in financing and

         25  building affordable housing. The bulk of our 250
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          2  members work throughout New York City's five

          3  boroughs and are collectively responsible for most

          4  of the housing built with City, State, or Federal

          5  subsidies in New York City in recent years.

          6                 The Council has repeatedly

          7  demonstrated its commitment to affordable housing.

          8  Most recently, through its support of the tiered

          9  housing program jointly developed by NYSAFAH and

         10  ACORN. With this in mind, NYSAFAH must respectfully

         11  express its opposition to Intro 186. While we are

         12  very sympathetic to the issue, this bill will

         13  actually hurt the preservation and development of

         14  affordable housing by providing disincentives for

         15  private investment.

         16                 While government subsidies are

         17  necessary for affordable housing development,

         18  including the preservation of existing units, these

         19  subsidies pay only a fraction of the cost. The bulk

         20  of the financing always comes from the private

         21  sector through combinations of bank loans, tax

         22  credit syndications and direct investments. Even

         23  buildings that are developed by not- for- profit

         24  groups depend on private ownership and financing

         25  through the federal low- income housing tax credit.
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          2                 The proposed legislation would

          3  encompass virtually all buildings built or renovated

          4  with City assistance when their regulatory

          5  agreements end. It would burden these properties

          6  with a new set of rules that were never anticipated

          7  by the owners when they undertook construction. The

          8  first opportunity to purchase could require an owner

          9  to sell a property at a time not of his or her own

         10  choosing, at price determined not by the market but

         11  by a panel of appraisers. The right of first refusal

         12  would prevent an owner from signing a sales contract

         13  for six months based simply on the tenants

         14  expression of interest in purchasing without any

         15  proof of their ability to actually consummate the

         16  sale. Few, if any potential buyers would be willing

         17  to wait that long to sign a contract, much less to

         18  purchase the building.

         19                 In addition to placing an unfair

         20  burden on the owner's of existing properties, the

         21  bill would limit investment in the future of

         22  affordable housing development. Most current

         23  affordable housing developments depend on the low-

         24  income housing tax credit which grants tax savings

         25  to investors in new and renovated housing. These
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          2  investors are willing to pay a premium for projects

          3  in New York City. However, potential investors would

          4  be reluctant to accept these limits on their

          5  ownership and that reluctance will translate into a

          6  lower price for tax credits and less money for

          7  affordable housing.

          8                 There are ways to encourage owners to

          9  keep housing affordable without resorting to these

         10  onerous restrictions by, for example, extending

         11  property tax exemptions in return for extended

         12  compliance with the regulatory agreement. We would

         13  be extremely pleased to work with the Council on

         14  developing some of these alternatives. In the

         15  meantime, we urge you not to pass Intro 186.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         17                 MR. HALPERIN: I wasn't going to add

         18  very much because it's encapsulated in the

         19  statement. But I just make one observation for my

         20  days as the State Housing Commissioner, when I did

         21  look at this issue, was concerned about the buy outs

         22  and was trying to preserve affordable housing. One

         23  of the greatest impediments was the bond conveyance

         24  and the agreements in the bond conveyance which took

         25  on contractual obligations which are protected under
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          2  the Federal law constitution. I didn't have an

          3  opportunity and I know this is not the form to fully

          4  consider all the legal issues. But I strongly

          5  suggest that you look at that as an impediment

          6  standing in the way of your bill that's currently

          7  drafted. Meaning to say it would be better to move

          8  in the direction of cooperation and providing

          9  inducements rather than to try force these types of

         10  things.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. Do

         12  we have any questions? Council Member Gerson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you

         14  very, very much. I'm going to pick up Senator

         15  Halperin where you left off and again in the

         16  interest of getting through the witnesses, I'm going

         17  to limit my questioning with the understanding that

         18  we're going to need to have an ongoing dialogue as

         19  we proceed. Let me just start by thanking all of you

         20  for being here and for your testimony and I think

         21  certainly those of you who know me, know all of us

         22  on this Council, our preferred route is working

         23  together. Senator, I will and I'm sure all of us

         24  will take you up on your suggestion and Mr. Carr's

         25  suggestion that we work together to come up with
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          2  inducements and incentives some of which have been

          3  discussed earlier and in earlier testimony. I'm sure

          4  we can come up with others.

          5                 I certainly concur that that is a

          6  first resort. Where we disagree is I don't see the

          7  two is mutually exclusive. Intro 186 is intended to

          8  be a last resort in those cases where inducements do

          9  not work. If this Intro will spur us to coming up

         10  with even better inducements, then it will have

         11  already served a beneficial purpose. I would just

         12  note, Madam Chair, we must be doing something right

         13  with 186 because earlier testimony criticized the

         14  bill as assuring that owners in many cases might

         15  receive too high of a sales price and now we've

         16  heard testimony in effect that owners will receive

         17  an unfair low sales price. When you're criticized

         18  from the opposite ends, often I think that means

         19  you're doing something right. But we could discuss

         20  that a little bit more later.

         21                 Let me just see if there any few

         22  points at this hearing that we can leave in

         23  agreement on. And then we could tackle our

         24  disagreements down the line. Mr. Doyle, you

         25  testified first, so I'll direct my testimony to you.
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          2  But anyone should feel free to jump in. Just putting

          3  aside 186, you heard the earlier discussion of a

          4  financial preservation trust fund to go with the

          5  law. Would you, putting aside again for this

          6  question 186, would you have any objection or better

          7  yet, could you support the creation of some sort of

          8  preservation trust fund which would combine the

          9  array of financial instruments kind of one entity or

         10  package to be made available to either owners who

         11  want to keep the buildings affordable or to

         12  purchasers who would commit to keeping the buildings

         13  affordable on a non- mandatory basis? But the

         14  creation of a preservation trust fund, could we do

         15  something like that?

         16                 MR. DOYLE: We would absolutely

         17  support something like that. Fundamentally, what

         18  I've tried to say in the testimony, although it went

         19  a little longer than I would have liked, just think

         20  about the future --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I have the

         22  same problem.

         23                 MR. DOYLE: That's okay. Just think

         24  about the future. Let's say we raised some legal

         25  objections to that. A prior panel said that it was

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  completely legal. Let's just for the sake of

          3  discussion assume that that panel was correct and

          4  we're wrong and that you have absolutely authority

          5  to pass this. And you do. What happens tomorrow? Why

          6  should anybody ever, ever build affordable housing?

          7  See the pretext, the premise behind the ability to

          8  build affordable housing is that part of the project

          9  is market rate and part of it is affordable. The

         10  market rate subsidizes the portion that is

         11  affordable; that is below market rate. But you

         12  calculate that over the life of the benefit. If

         13  you're in a 20 year program, you say, I'm willing to

         14  accept the lower rate for 20 years because I know at

         15  the end of 20 years, these units are going to come

         16  back up to market. Who will ever create affordable

         17  housing in the future?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But my

         19  question was, would you --

         20                 MR. DOYLE: I absolutely would agree

         21  with you. We would be willing to support the type of

         22  fund you talked about.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So that's one

         24  item of agreement. I want to conclude this on a

         25  positive note. We'll have ample opportunity to
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          2  discuss where we may differ. What about a notice

          3  provision? What about a provision that just said

          4  that before an owner either opts out or sells out,

          5  they have to give notice to their tenant

          6  associations? And some current projects we actually

          7  have that in law. Maybe the period may have to be

          8  adjusted. But in certain categories, we really don't

          9  have a thorough notice provision that the owner is

         10  going to go to a market rate. Often it's been our

         11  experience that tenant associations sometimes find

         12  out relative late in the game, certainly well after

         13  an owner, some owners may have made the decision.

         14  But a reasonable time period just providing tenant

         15  associations with notice so again, they can try on

         16  their own to make an offer to the owner to see if

         17  the owner would accept it or not. Do you have any

         18  problems with an adequate notice provision?

         19                 MR. DOYLE: You've got me at a real

         20  disadvantage on this one, Council Member. To me, --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I finally

         22  succeeded.

         23                 MR. DOYLE: You did. To me, it seems

         24  like an eminently reasonable type of provision. But

         25  I don't have the expertise in what the current law
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          2  requires. It's not really an issue that I've studied

          3  in any great detail. One of my colleagues in the

          4  office has who wasn't available to be here today.

          5  So, although it sounds reasonable to me and it is

          6  certainly a suggestion I take back to the people I

          7  represent, I can't commit to it here on the spot.

          8                 MR. RICCI: I'll take a try. It's my

          9  understanding that at least through the Mitchell-

         10  Lama and I'm not as familiar with some of the

         11  federally subsidized mortgage insurance programs as

         12  you might be. But in the Mitchell- Lama program,

         13  there is a notice provision and it's actually been

         14  my experience that every single development that's

         15  opted out, there has been an accepted deal worked

         16  out between the tenants and the owner whether it's

         17  for purchase or for rental. It seems to me and maybe

         18  I need more information from you as to what projects

         19  didn't have adequate notice that's it actually been

         20  working.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In theory

         22  then, you would have no qualms about extending the

         23  same type of notice provision?

         24                 MR. RICCI: I didn't say that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm asking. I
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          2  know you didn't say that. I'm asking you that.

          3                 MR. RICCI: I'm saying that the notice

          4  provision that currently is in the Mitchell- Lama

          5  provision seems fine. Now if that means to be

          6  extended to others, I would take that back to the

          7  people who have those projects and see what their

          8  objections would be. But there is potentially, we

          9  could be in agreement on this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The agreements

         11  that you say worked out so well, those are typically

         12  the West Village Houses aside which we've discussed

         13  quite a bit earlier. But correct me if I'm wrong,

         14  those are typically agreements between the owners

         15  and the tenant associations with respect to tenants

         16  in place. They typically do not protect the unit.

         17  They do not preserve the affordability of the unit

         18  after the tenants leave.

         19                 MR. RICCI: No. But a lot of the

         20  tenants continue to stay. A lot of the existing

         21  tenants are the ones who actually do profit by

         22  flipping that unit later on and pocketing quite a

         23  profit themselves.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: They would

         25  only be able to do if they become owners. If they're
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          2  renters and they leave, they don't profit.

          3                 MR. RICCI: Right. I'm talking about

          4  in a co- op owner situation which is where only the

          5  right of refusal would apply anyway.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, the

          7  proposed right of first refusal would apply the

          8  other way around. Only in rental housing, current

          9  rental housing. If there is any unintended

         10  consequence, we will correct it. The purpose of it

         11  was not to allow windfall flip profiting, but to

         12  preserve the units. At least we have a couple of

         13  areas of agreement or potential agreement which we

         14  can begin to explore.

         15                 This is kind of a technical point.

         16  You said our process, or formula doesn't take, Mr.

         17  Doyle, doesn't take account of tax consequences. In

         18  theory and finance economic theory, there is no

         19  reason why we couldn't modify our formula to have a

         20  process which does take that into account.

         21                 MR. DOYLE: In theory you could. But

         22  the consequence of that may well increase the sale

         23  price beyond what is reasonable at that moment in

         24  time. You see what this bill does as you know is if

         25  a person wants to exit the program, whether or not
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          2  they want to sell the development, they're

          3  obligated, they're tipped into this bill. The

          4  tenants assoc --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's only if

          6  they want to exit the program.

          7                 MR. DOYLE: Correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Nothing stops

          9  them from keeping the building and remaining in the

         10  program.

         11                 MR. DOYLE: Correct. But let's take

         12  the case -- just to answer your question more

         13  directly. Let's take the case --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: About coming

         15  up with a formula that could take counter attack.

         16                 MR. DOYLE: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's the

         18  question.

         19                 MR. DOYLE: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Go ahead.

         21                 MR. DOYLE: Let's take a look at the

         22  situation where the individual developer wants to

         23  continue the operative at luxury rates. The highest

         24  possible rates. How then do you calculate what the

         25  value of it is in terms of the tax consequences?
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          2  Maybe you can in theory and maybe you can't. But I'm

          3  just suggesting it may be a very difficult thing to

          4  do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But difficult

          6  is not impossible.

          7                 MR. DOYLE: Granted.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I guess I'll

          9  conclude on this note. And again, going back to my

         10  discussion with Council Member Barron, we do want to

         11  operate within the realm of reality that what would

         12  be required as a purchase price would be based on

         13  realty, not a sham, artificial unreachable amount

         14  that no one could ever expect. But at the same time,

         15  this is kind of what frustrates me and this is where

         16  we'll have to leave off and continue the discussion,

         17  but I do want to share my frustration.

         18                 We are going out of our way in this

         19  bill to try and come up with formula that protects

         20  the owners economic investment and for 99.9 percent,

         21  we know these are economic investments. Very few

         22  owners live in the developments that we're talking

         23  about which they own. As I think Mr. Carr or one of

         24  you cited, forgive me if I have the wrong witness,

         25  maybe it was you Frank, there is a history of
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          2  responses to housing crisis where we impose

          3  restrictions and controls diminishing the economic

          4  value without providing any kind of compensation or

          5  feedback to the owners. So I go back to my opening

          6  statement, we are trying in the face of an

          7  unprecedented crisis to come up with win- win

          8  situations that would preserve affordable housing in

          9  a time which I think very few people ever

         10  anticipated years ago.

         11                 At the same time, respect the

         12  economic investment. We do so in condemnation for

         13  parks and sewers and all sorts of public projects.

         14  Affordable housing is a critical public need and I

         15  just hope we can work together to protect your

         16  owners and serve the public interest which mandates

         17  preservations. That's my hope and I'm certainly

         18  willing to make every effort to work with you on

         19  that. Madam Chair, thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilwoman

         21  James.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just one

         23  question to Mr. Doyle. Mr. Doyle, I would imagine --

         24  let me just begin by saying this. How do you

         25  reconcile your position that this bill would violate
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          2  the constitution on the grounds -- well it's

          3  preempted by the State as a result of Urstadt which

          4  is your position and that its basically a taking of

          5  private --

          6                 MR. DOYLE: No, no. I didn't cite

          7  Urstadt. I cited the law that established these

          8  projects to begin with, the Mitchell- Lama Housing

          9  Law.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Could you

         11  explain that further that position?

         12                 MR. DOYLE: Yes, because the law

         13  specified what the terms of the arrangement would be

         14  and the section that I mentioned specifically is

         15  that at the end of that program, the owner would

         16  have an unfitted right to take back the full control

         17  over it at whatever the market rate was; selling it

         18  or making it rental at market rate or whatever. Its

         19  specifically written into the law and that's what

         20  would be the conflict. I'm not a lawyer myself. I'm

         21  glad that Council Member Barron is not here to

         22  castigate me for bringing up legal points.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But you also

         24  argue that its a taking without --

         25                 MR. DOYLE: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: -- Just

          3  compensation. Correct?

          4                 MR. DOYLE: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The question

          6  that I have is how do you reconcile that position

          7  with the fact that other states have similar

          8  provisions in law such as California, New Jersey,

          9  Maryland, District of Columbia.

         10                 MR. DOYLE: I believe that those

         11  states do not have similar provisions of law insofar

         12  as it affects Mitchell-Lama.  I believe, if I

         13  understood the testimony correctly, that what those

         14  folks were testifying about were Section 8 project

         15  housing. Is that correct? Did I miss a point? I have

         16  not done that same research. I can tell you the

         17  testimony I read is the product of our consultation

         18  with attorneys in the field.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I would imagine

         20  that the other reason why you object to this is that

         21  this bill basically violates the principals of the

         22  free market systems. Correct?

         23                 MR. DOYLE: I'm not such a free market

         24  person personally. I am a property rights person

         25  though and that's what it violates. This is

                                                            124

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  something -- I entered into an agreement. I built

          3  this development, I agreed to do certain things. And

          4  then that ends. It's a contract. It violates that

          5  contract.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So taking that

          7  to its logical conclusion, that would mean that the

          8  Real Estate Board of New York would be opposed to

          9  the abuse of Eminent Domain under any circumstances.

         10  Correct?

         11                 MR. DOYLE: Are you going to pass the

         12  petition over?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, just

         14  logical conclusion. I would imagine that would also

         15  apply to the situation that I'm currently confronted

         16  in the borough of Brooklyn with the taking of

         17  private property for private use.

         18                 MR. DOYLE: I understand what you're

         19  saying. I commend you for being so steadfast in your

         20  pursuit of it. I know.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         22                 MR. HALPERIN: Can I also reflect on

         23  the question? It has in my mind the issue is not

         24  Eminent Domain. It may be Eminent Domain issues. But

         25  it does as Mr. Doyle pointed out, but I'll take it
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          2  one step further and historically when the Mitchell-

          3  Lama program was first created, there was a longer

          4  buy out period. Very few developers were willing to

          5  come in to the program under that time constraint.

          6  They wanted to be able to go public with their

          7  property in a much shorter period of time. So the

          8  State legislature reduced the period and after the

          9  reduction of the period of the buy out, then that's

         10  when the Mitchell- Lama program really took off. So

         11  there was an understanding and an agreement that the

         12  owners had the right to buy out after the period of

         13  time when they would no longer receive benefits.

         14  That right is not something that's just simply up in

         15  the air. It is incorporated into the bond

         16  conveyance. So that anyone who purchases bonds

         17  pursuant to that program knew what their rights

         18  were.

         19                 Those contracts are legally binding

         20  contracts and under the federal constitution,

         21  neither a State or anyone else can interfere with

         22  contractual rights between individuals. I looked at

         23  that pretty carefully way back when I was the

         24  Housing Commissioner and it convinced me at the

         25  time. This may not be a time for debate about it,
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          2  but I would strongly suggest that the Council and

          3  staff review that particular aspect, not only the

          4  Eminent Domain issue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner, Senator and Counsel.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          8  Gail. I thank all of you.

          9                 MR. CARR: Can I add one quick point

         10  very briefly? The back drop obviously to this is

         11  Mitchell- Lama and Section 8. But at NYSAFAH, our

         12  focus is more on City and State programs. When I

         13  think in terms of things like the vacant building

         14  program and those programs coming to an end in 30

         15  years, with this legislation not only would you have

         16  the issue of phantom income and tax consequences for

         17  the owner, but you also have the issue of property

         18  tax abatement and exemptions ended in year 30. You

         19  do have the potential when you're looking at City

         20  programs as opposed to the Federal programs, you've

         21  got pressure from both sides there.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Again, thank

         23  you. Next panel, Renee Jakobs, Margaret Chin, Daniel

         24  Greenberg, Lisa- Nicolle Grist. Again, you will be

         25  on a two minute clock. We still have a lot of folks
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          2  that have signed in. Most of you probably will not

          3  get an opportunity to speak. We are, as I said,

          4  ending this hearing at 4:00. David Greenberg.

          5  Somebody is missing.

          6                 MR. ALVEREZ: There's actually two

          7  people missing. David Greenberg from ANHD is not

          8  here. I submitted his testimony in his place. And

          9  Lisa- Nicolle Grist is not here as well. But I can

         10  testify on her behalf.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Drew

         12  Kiriazides, are you in the house? Any of you can

         13  start.

         14                 MS. CHIN: Good afternoon, Madam

         15  Chair. Thank you for the opportunity to testify

         16  before you. My name is Margaret Chin and I'm the

         17  Deputy Executive Director of Asian Americans for

         18  Equality. I submitted along testimonies. I'm just

         19  going to be making some comments. First I really

         20  want to thank our Council Member, Alan Gerson; we're

         21  in his district, for introducing this legislation

         22  and for all the City Council Members that supports

         23  it.

         24                 We're here today to really support

         25  the tenants throughout the City who lives in these
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          2  subsidized building. They are the ones, from the

          3  earlier testimony from the developers and the

          4  builders, they forgot that it is the tenants who are

          5  the pioneers who helped build those neighborhoods 30

          6  years ago, 20 years ago when they first moved in.

          7  When we talk to some of the tenants, the members of

          8  AAFE and some of our clients that lives in Lands End

          9  One last night, they told me that when they first

         10  moved in, they weren't told that 20 years later they

         11  might lose their home. That they might have to pay

         12  three times their rent. They thought they were

         13  moving into government housing. These are housing

         14  that they could afford because the rent was much

         15  lower and it was quality housing. People were living

         16  in overcrowded tenant dilapidated buildings, that's

         17  why they moved into those buildings.

         18                 Guess what? Those neighborhoods were

         19  not serviced. They were underserved. A lot of them

         20  got robbed when they went home at night and they

         21  told me, robbed at gunpoint. One man had to said, I

         22  have a 100- year- old grandmother. Just take my

         23  money. But they build the neighborhood. And now that

         24  these neighborhoods are one. Profitable. Now that

         25  times are, okay, we're not breaking the rule. They
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          2  could still sell the buildings. They could sell it

          3  to the tenants. But what happened to the tenant who

          4  helped build up the property values of this

          5  building. Aren't the tenants the investors? When

          6  they can make more money, hey, think about the

          7  tenant. Think about the public good that tax payers

          8  money, our tax payers helped subsidize this

          9  building. When time come to have them opt- out,

         10  we're not saying that you can't make a profit. And

         11  guess what, these landlords have been making profits

         12  all along. Right?

         13                 And some of the Mitchell- Lama

         14  housing, they guarantee a profit at least six

         15  percent every single year and now they want to make

         16  more profit. Fine. You can make profit. But think

         17  about the public good. Think about all the families

         18  that help build our neighborhoods. That's why it's

         19  really important to support Intro 186. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         21  Who's next?

         22                 MS. JAKOBS: Do I push something?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes. If it's

         24  off, it's on. Bring it closer to you.

         25                 MS. JAKOBS: Okay. I'm Renee Jakobs of
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          2  the NCB Development Corporation located in the

          3  District of Columbia. On behalf of the National

          4  Cooperative Bank and its affiliate, the NCB

          5  Development Corporation and the communities we

          6  serve, I'm pleased to sit before the Committee today

          7  and testify on behalf of No. 186.

          8                 At the outset, let me share with you

          9  some background information on the National Co- op

         10  Bank and the NCB Development Corporation. We're a

         11  congressionally chartered financial institution with

         12  established to address the financial needs of an

         13  underserved market namely cooperatives and in

         14  particular low- income communities. Throughout our

         15  history, we have financed thousands of units of

         16  affordable housing, retail businesses, choices in

         17  education, affordable assisted living and healthcare

         18  facilities. While based in the District of Columbia,

         19  we have an office in New York City.

         20                 In New York City, NCB and NCBDC have

         21  worked to provide financing for affording housings

         22  cooperatives for the City's low- and moderate-

         23  income citizens. In the past four years, the NCB

         24  Development Corporation has closed 16 loans

         25  totalling $14 million that have financed 750 units
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          2  of affordable cooperative housing. We expect to

          3  finance another $4.6 million and another 100 units

          4  by the end of the year. Most recently, we've been a

          5  participating lender with New York City's Department

          6  of Housing Preservation and Development in round

          7  three of the third party transfer program.

          8                 Madam Chairwoman and Council Members,

          9  the City's affordable housing stock is at risk in

         10  frightening portions and we have found that a tenant

         11  first right of refusal provides a power legal tool

         12  for residents in those buildings to combat

         13  displacement, to maintain affordability, and to

         14  develop affordable homeownership. It empowers

         15  residents to participate in the housing markets in

         16  ways that would never have been available otherwise.

         17                 Other jurisdictions have used this

         18  tool effectively to create protections for renters,

         19  to further their affordable housing goals and to

         20  expand homeownership, in the District of Columbia,

         21  for example. For these reasons, we support Intro 186

         22  and thank you for the opportunity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         24  Next.

         25                 MR. ALVEREZ: I'm John Alverez
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          2  (phonetic) from Neighbors Helping Neighbors. I'm

          3  actually speaking in the place of Lisa- Nicolle

          4  Grist, the Executive Director of Neighbors Helping

          5  Neighbors. She had to go to a meeting at 4:00. She

          6  couldn't be here.

          7                 I guess before I read off her

          8  testimony though, I'd just like to say, just to

          9  piggyback on what Ms. Chin was saying from AAFE,

         10  these projects were pioneered by tenants. Also, the

         11  movement to pass this bill has been pioneered by

         12  tenants. I mean look at how many tenants in the

         13  audience in comparison to everybody else. So I hope

         14  we get to hear from tenants really quick. So I'll be

         15  quick.

         16                 My name is Lisa- Nicolle Grist; I'm

         17  the Executive Director of Neighbors Helping

         18  Neighbors. Our mission is to enable people with low-

         19  or moderate- incomes to build assets for their

         20  families and Brooklyn communities by securing,

         21  improving and owning their homes and businesses. We

         22  are actively working to preserve homes that have

         23  been affordable for a generation thanks to Federal

         24  subsidies called project- based Section 8.

         25                 One thing we'd like to talk about
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          2  here is voucherization. What happens when owners opt

          3  out of project- based Section 8 contracts and go to

          4  vouchers? Voucherization is not an adequate response

          5  to the loss of affordable housing in New York City.

          6  The subsidy should be transferred to eligible

          7  tenants who could stay or move to other locations.

          8  However, there are at least three problems with the

          9  conversion. New restrictions render some current

         10  tenants ineligible for vouchers. Tenant- based

         11  vouchers are continually at risk at being cut from

         12  the Federal budget as well known and seen in the

         13  news. And private landlords are increasingly

         14  refusing to rent to voucher holders. Three big

         15  problems with vouchers. Moreover, if tenants do get

         16  vouchers and move, the units will be available

         17  without income restrictions at market rates,

         18  reducing the diversity and income integration of the

         19  neighborhood.

         20                 What does this look like on the

         21  ground. Really quickly. A story of one 36 unit

         22  property that we're working with in our

         23  neighborhood, Sunset Park Brooklyn. The owner is

         24  planning to sell this property to the current

         25  managing agent when the Section 8 contract expires
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          2  next month. Despite the current regulations

          3  requiring 12 month advance notice, the tenants were

          4  not informed of the owner's intent to opt out. They

          5  never got a notice. NHN learned of the impending opt

          6  out and we learned of the opt out and sale while

          7  helping the tenants negotiate for building wide

          8  repairs just by looking on a database.

          9                 In the meantime, we've taken this

         10  issue to court. With help from tenants and neighbors

         11  and from South Brooklyn Legal Services, the tenants

         12  have sued to delay the sale until all repairs are

         13  made. The tenants, most are senior citizens and most

         14  speak only Spanish, are talking to the Fifth Avenue

         15  Committee about purchasing the property. They're

         16  talking to financiers. But without the right of

         17  first refusal, without this bill, tenants are

         18  powerless. Their building will be sold to managers

         19  with a bad track record. They've run this building

         20  into the ground. And their tenure in the community

         21  will be in jeopardy. This very property could be

         22  preserved with Intro 186. This is just one of many

         23  stories in New York City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25                 MR. KIRIAZIDES: Hi, my name is Drew
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          2  Kiriazides. I'm a Senior Project Manager of at

          3  Downtown Manhattan CDC which is a non- profit

          4  housing corporation in Lower Manhattan that develops

          5  affordable housing as well as provides technical

          6  assistance to tenant groups.

          7                 As non- profit developers of

          8  affordable housing, Downtown Manhattan CDC feels

          9  very strongly about Intro 186 because we feel like

         10  it would be a really strong viable option for

         11  tenants of expiring used buildings who are facing

         12  buy outs and opt outs. The right of first refusal

         13  feature in the bill would enable tenants the option

         14  of purchasing their building either through a

         15  cooperative form of ownership or through a third

         16  party ownership whereby a tenant designated

         17  owner/manager would maintain rent affordability in

         18  perpetuity.

         19                 Now a couple years ago, the Mayor

         20  unveiled his plan to develop 65,000 units of

         21  housing. The five- year plan known as The New

         22  Housing Marketplace proposes a range of financing

         23  options to achieve this from middle- income

         24  financing to homeownership grants. Many of these

         25  financing tools can be applied to tenant led
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          2  acquisition of expiring use buildings. Tenants or

          3  third party owners interested in purchasing could

          4  also take advantage of existing New York State and

          5  New York City financing programs. Programs that

          6  utilize tax exempt bond financing, low- income

          7  housing tax credits and New York State credit

          8  enhancement. Financing scenarios could, at times,

          9  rely on other sources such as a recoverable grants

         10  and soft loans. All these funding mechanisms are

         11  currently available and are features of existing

         12  housing programs. This is a really important point

         13  because the City needs to shift their priorities.

         14  The financing mechanisms do exist. But the City has

         15  to focus on these expiring uses.

         16                 There are several examples of these

         17  things that are mentioned today about West Village

         18  Houses and Rupert Yorkville. The last point I want

         19  to make is that the thing that Commissioner Donovan

         20  mentioned, Shaun Donovan mentioned that you need to

         21  have the financing first and then create the law. I

         22  think it's really important to create the law first

         23  because without that the City will not make it a

         24  priority. We need to institute the financing

         25  mechanisms first -- I'm sorry, institute this legal
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          2  process first and then the City will follow into it.

          3  Because as we have right now, they have not. They

          4  have not pushed for financing of this. We really

          5  support the bill and we hope you do as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. Do

          7  we have any questions?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The interest

          9  of hearing from the witnesses, I just want to thank

         10  you and we look forward and especially you, Ms.

         11  Jakobs. I want to thank all of you. But we

         12  appreciate you, Ms. Jakobs, for traveling in from

         13  Washington, D.C. We look forward to working with

         14  you. Madam Chair, the fact that you have such a

         15  representation from the non- profit sector in

         16  support of this shows that if we implement this, the

         17  not- for- profit sector will step up to the plate

         18  and help underwrite these buy outs. Thank you. Do

         19  any of you disagree with statement?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No. But we

         21  have questions. Don't leave. Council Member Jackson

         22  has questions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair. Did you say you were from a co- op

         25  bank?
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          2                 MS. JAKOBS: From the National

          3  Cooperative Bank, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: If this law,

          5  Intro 186 is not passed and we lose the at risk

          6  housing, is it viable that the housing stock could

          7  be replaced through new construction in your

          8  opinion?

          9                 MS. JAKOBS: First of all, the stock

         10  has to be there. The location has to be there. What

         11  this does is provide a safe guard for tenants

         12  rights. What we found in the District where we're

         13  also active that has a tenants first right to

         14  purchase act, that it's been the engine for co- op

         15  conversions and tenants have used this to either

         16  purchase their buildings or they've assigned their

         17  rights to non- profits who will develop them as

         18  affordable rentals or even to negotiate a settlement

         19  with the perspective buyer to help them relocate

         20  elsewhere. One of the tasks of the tenant

         21  association in this legislative time period that

         22  they have is to assemble the financing to make the

         23  purchase possible as well as the development team.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: How much

         25  money does the National Co- Op Bank have in its
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          2  reserve in order to lend perspective --

          3                 MS. JAKOBS: We've drawn a number of

          4  sources including secondary market sources.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Have you

          6  estimated nationally, what does it cost to build a

          7  new unit of housing versus preserving a unit of

          8  housing like we're talking about here?

          9                 MS. JAKOBS: It depends on the

         10  condition of the housing. The age and condition are

         11  key factors. What we found in New York with the

         12  third party transfer properties, is that we're

         13  seeing rehab costs between $50 and $100,000 a unit

         14  depending on the age of the building and how much

         15  deferred maintenance these's been. In general, it is

         16  less expensive to rehab than to start from scratch.

         17  And that also depends on land prices and a whole

         18  array of factors.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         20                 MR. ALVEREZ: I think I would like to

         21  add though in New York City, you would see that the

         22  number of units that are threat is so much more than

         23  what actually has been developed; affordable housing

         24  has developed over the last ten years. That's an

         25  important point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you all

          4  very much. Next panel is our last panel; Kim Smith,

          5  Jimmy Carter, Maria Christopher, Louis Sanchez. Rosa

          6  Diaz, where are you? Rosa? Raise your hand. This is

          7  our last panel. We have a lot of folks that signed

          8  in to speak. There will be a second hearing on this

          9  bill. People that testified at this hearing cannot

         10  testify at the next hearing. So, we will keep all

         11  the sign in sheets and I'm really sorry. This always

         12  happens and I always regret it. But there is more

         13  people than time. So you will be notified of the

         14  second hearing. Someone wants to start.

         15                 MS. SMITH: Hello. Good afternoon and

         16  thank you for the opportunity to testify before the

         17  Housing and Buildings Committee. I had another

         18  colleague that was suppose to be here, but

         19  unfortunately her child had to go to the hospital.

         20  So if it's okay, I'll read both testimonies. I am

         21  Kim Smith, member of Tenants and Neighbors and Chair

         22  of the Concerned Tenants at Ennis Francis Houses

         23  Tenant Association, located in Central Harlem. In

         24  addition to working with the 231 households at my

         25  development, through Tenants and Neighbors, I work
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          2  with my fellow tenant leaders on City- wide issues

          3  of concern to all project- based Section 8 and HUD

          4  assisted tenants.

          5                 I am here today to discuss the

          6  importance of preserving project- based Section 8

          7  developments and affordable housing throughout New

          8  York City. As I speak with my fellow tenant leaders,

          9  I hear story after story about HUD- subsidized

         10  housing under attack. I am here today to present the

         11  many faces of project- based Section 8 tenants. We

         12  are working families; we are seniors; we are

         13  individuals with disabilities. We are long- time

         14  community members; we are neighborhood leaders and

         15  most of all, we are New Yorkers. New Yorkers whose

         16  housing is under siege with too few tools or

         17  opportunities to save our homes.

         18                 Right now, project- based Section 8

         19  tenants receive a confusing letter 12 months before

         20  their landlord may leave the program. Imagine, after

         21  being in a community for 20 to 30 years, receiving a

         22  document that threatens the very community that you

         23  have built. In my neighborhood, Central Harlem, we

         24  are currently in the midst of a renaissance. This is

         25  a very existing time for us, for the long- time
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          2  residents of Harlem. As I walk through the streets,

          3  I am filled with pride to know that this is my

          4  neighborhood.

          5                 When housing is preserved as

          6  affordable and with good conditions, the entire

          7  community wins. At my development, we are still

          8  fighting for decent conditions, but our tenant

          9  association is determined to turn our building

         10  around and make a positive future. We should have

         11  the right to seek out responsible development

         12  partners and keep our homes project- based Section

         13  8.

         14                 It is clear that the City must act.

         15  With over 55,000 project- based Section 8 apartments

         16  scheduled to expire before 2010, existing affordable

         17  housing will disappear and be nearly impossible to

         18  replace. The Tenant Empowerment Act is an

         19  opportunity for tenants, for responsible housing

         20  developers, and for New York City. On behalf of

         21  myself, Tenants and Neighbors and project- based

         22  Section 8 tenants across the City, I ask you to

         23  support the bill and turn Intro 186 into law. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.
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          2  Next.

          3                 MR. CARTER: Hello, my name is Jimmy

          4  Carter. I am a member of Save Our Homes Committee of

          5  Riverside Park Community, 3333 Broadway. Residents

          6  of Mitchell- Lama building with a project- based

          7  Section 8 subsidy, our home has 1,190 tenants or

          8  families. This is one of the largest complex of its

          9  kind in New York. The building address, 3333

         10  Broadway where I've had continuous residency for

         11  over 28 years is now in jeopardy. We have been

         12  devoted for years to building our families and

         13  building the community. While our community is

         14  unique and unlike other communities, it is now where

         15  it has parks and various recreation of the

         16  community, we're blessed with landmarks and other

         17  interesting educational places to visit all close

         18  by. Living there has been even better because of the

         19  various facilities that we have in the community. We

         20  are blessed with trains and buses with stores in our

         21  community close at hand.

         22                 Now however, we are faced with the

         23  possibility of losing our homes. We have been hit

         24  with a two punch, two punch -- excuse me. We have

         25  been hit with two punch blow. This blow represents
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          2  one, Columbia University which has informed us

          3  recently that they are interested in purchasing

          4  parts of our community to build, a bio- tech

          5  facility. And two, we have been hit by our own owner

          6  who has informed us that they are going to prepay

          7  the mortgage. We've learned bit by bit, little by

          8  little that Columbia University has the intent to

          9  build this. It was devastating.

         10                 Now with this new information about

         11  the landlord coming to prepay the mortgage, our

         12  community is thrown in the midst of confusion,

         13  disillusionment and angst. Our tenant many of them

         14  have not been sleeping or eating. A number of our

         15  tenants who speak Spanish, have decided not to buy

         16  food, not to buy clothing in their community because

         17  they feel they are about to be put out. There is a

         18  great number of individuals in our community who

         19  feel like they are at any minute ready to evicted We

         20  need this bill as a last ditch effort to help

         21  preserve our homes. This bill has been the only

         22  thing that has given us any hope in our community;

         23  has given us any view of saving our homes. We will

         24  fight, care not whether this bill passes not. But

         25  without this bill, we are very much in danger. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4  Next.

          5                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: My name is Maria

          6  Christopher and I am the President of Tenant

          7  Association located on the Lower East Side of

          8  Manhattan. It is a 171 unit building and I consider

          9  myself one of the lucky ones. My building and my

         10  tenants, we fought a very hard battle for the last

         11  year and a half and we were able to get a contract

         12  renewal of 15 years. My building is suppose to be

         13  pretty much secured.

         14                 However, for the grace of God, I know

         15  so many other buildings in my area that were not so

         16  lucky. They are losing their contracts. I was able

         17  through the organizing effort of being trained by

         18  New York Tenants and Neighbors and working with

         19  goals and many other agencies, AAFE in my

         20  neighborhood and having all my elected officials

         21  rally around 210 Stanton Street including the

         22  speaker of the Council.

         23                 We were able to convince the owner to

         24  renew. And I'm saying to you that this bill needs to

         25  be passed and it's desperately needed. Because I can
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          2  give you right off the top of hand in District 1,

          3  how many buildings are at jeopardy and three of them

          4  are senior citizens in District 1; 179 Henry Street,

          5  49 Fulton Street and 15 Willot (phonetic). They are

          6  senior citizens complexes. These seniors do not know

          7  up from down. In other words, they don't know that

          8  the contract is due to be expired. I doubt that they

          9  will get a year's written notice. The only thing

         10  that they will know is that probably the Housing

         11  Authority will come to them and say to them, we're

         12  going to voucher you out and don't worry about

         13  anything. We're going to give you this voucher. It

         14  just means that instead of having your program as

         15  you know it, you have tenant based Section 8. And

         16  they will feel, okay, we are secure. But we will

         17  know the truth as the matter is that if the

         18  President of the United States does something with

         19  the sticky vouchers, we have a lot of seniors that

         20  will be in the street with no place to go.

         21                 With Intro 186, in that case, a not-

         22  for- profit could buy the building and then run it

         23  and keep it secure and keep the seniors in their

         24  apartments. And we wouldn't have this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.
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          2  You had the best reaction to that. Next.

          3                 MS. SANCHEZ: My name is Louise

          4  Sanchez and I'm one of the co- chairs of the

          5  Mitchell- Lama Residents Coalition which is a State-

          6  wide coalition of both co- ops and rentals of

          7  Mitchell- Lama buildings. We are a tenant advocacy

          8  organization.

          9                 In two minutes, I want to talk about

         10  one thing. A lot has been said about Mitchell- Lama

         11  and a lot has been said about project- based or

         12  Section 8 buildings. I want to clearly understood

         13  that tenants consider both Section 8 and Mitchell-

         14  Lama buildings as being in the same boat. Both being

         15  very seriously threatened. I don't think either of

         16  us think we are better than the other or better off

         17  than the other. We know we're in the same boat and

         18  we're trying to preserve both because both are vital

         19  and important to the life of this City.

         20                 However, I would like to charge the

         21  City Council with certain responsibilities. A lot

         22  has been said about financing and not- for- profit.

         23  I wish I would live to see the day that the City

         24  Council would take a position with all the banks

         25  that the City has investments in and say to these
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          2  banks, you're not going to have our business unless

          3  you begin to make money available on a non- profit

          4  basis to those tenants who want to buy their own

          5  buildings. I can remember when it was a question

          6  when everybody was there. I think it's the least

          7  that we can do for our own constituency.

          8                 Secondly, a lot of us belong to trade

          9  unions. And I think that it is also part of our job

         10  to put the pressure, if you please, because they

         11  don't do it voluntarily on the trade union movement

         12  whose members live both in project- based as well as

         13  Mitchell- Lama buildings. To say to these unions,

         14  you have to get involved. It's about time you begin

         15  to understand that you're role is not only wage

         16  increases and working conditions, but the life of

         17  the community and the community your members live

         18  in. I think you have to begin to talk to them about

         19  getting themselves involved. So having said all

         20  that, all I can say to the audience out there is

         21  let's stick together.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         23  very much. Some of the folks that we receive

         24  testimony from and that will be put into the record

         25  today are on Reso 388, the New York State Division
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          2  of Housing and Community Renewal. That was on the

          3  Reso. On Intro 186, ANHD, Marisa Redanty, Joan King,

          4  Moraima Nunez, Nancy Rosenbloom and ACORN. If there

          5  anyone else that has written testimony and you would

          6  like to submit it, it will be put into the record.

          7  That's almost as good as having given your

          8  testimony. I would like to thank all of you that are

          9  here. Your presence alone speaks for your support of

         10  the legislation. You're not here in vain. And again,

         11  you will be notified of the second hearing and if

         12  you want to testify at that point, we'll put you to

         13  the top of the list. Also, Intro 186 and proposed

         14  Reso No. 388A are laid over. Council Member Gerson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,

         16  first of all, thank each of you on this panel for

         17  your important testimony. Ms. Sanchez, you were the

         18  perfect wind up giving us of the ways to finance our

         19  affordable housing preservation trust fund. We thank

         20  you for that. Madam Chair, they did not testify. But

         21  I need to know if the presence of Ann Lessly

         22  (phonetic) of Tenants and Neighbors and Deana Levy

         23  of UHAB (phonetic) who have been -- they deserve a

         24  round of applause. We're going to break the rule one

         25  more time by a round of applause for our Chair,
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          2  Madeline Provenzano and each of you here. Thank you

          3  very much. I pledge to continue this effort with you

          4  until we prevail. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I thank all

          6  of you. This hearing is adjourned.

          7                 (Meeting concluded at 4:00 p.m.)

          8                 (Following written testimony was read

          9  into the record)

         10

         11  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         12  JOAN KING

         13  TENANT EMPOWERMENT ACT

         14

         15                 Hello. My name is Joan King and I am

         16  here to support Intro 186 or the Tenant Empowerment

         17  Act because New York City needs to save the

         18  affordable housing that it currently has for the

         19  people who live there and can't afford to pay high

         20  rents.

         21                 I live at 257 Clinton Street in

         22  Manhattan with my nephew, Jonathon Robinson, who is

         23  special ed. He has down syndrome and a congenital

         24  heart disease. I worked as a para professional for

         25  23 years for the Department of Education. Our income

                                                            151

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  comes from social security and my pension plan. We

          3  are on a fixed income.

          4                 My building (Lands End One) is a

          5  Mitchell- Lama rental. There are about 240 units in

          6  my building; that is 240 families. Our contract,

          7  which kept our rents affordable, expired on October

          8  26, 2004, so we are currently in negotiations with

          9  our landlord over the future of our building. Our

         10  building has been offered sticky vouchers but we

         11  don't know what the outcome will be. If we do get

         12  the vouchers, the landlord is agreeing to accept

         13  them only as long as the program is not cut by 10

         14  percent. What if the Federal government won't cover

         15  the vouchers or reduces funding for them by 10

         16  percent or more? This is a fear in our current

         17  political climate.

         18                 I am nervous because without our rent

         19  subsidy, I would not be able to pay market rate

         20  rent. Where will my nephew and I go? Recently one of

         21  my neighbors moved because they couldn't afford even

         22  a small increase even though they are working. They

         23  had lived in the building for over 20 years and were

         24  good neighbors and a value part of the community. I

         25  myself dedicated 23 years to New York City school
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          2  children. I deserve to stay in my community. My

          3  nephew also needs to stay in the only home he has

          4  ever had. Because of his disability, changes send

          5  him backwards in his educational process and it

          6  takes him a long time to regain the knowledge of

          7  where he is at.

          8                 It is important that Intro 186 is

          9  made law to help tenants such as myself and I know

         10  that I am only one of many. We should not be made to

         11  leave our homes just because we cannot afford to pay

         12  thousands of dollars in rent. We deserve a chance to

         13  keep our rents at an amount that we can afford and

         14  the Tenant Empowerment Act would let us do that if

         15  we could buy our building in the event that the

         16  owner decides not to continue accepting subsidies.

         17  It is important that the City preserve what little

         18  affordable housing we currently have.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  MORAIMA NUNEZ

         22  TENANT

         23

         24                 My name is Moraima Nunez and I live

         25  at 160 Stanton Street on the Lower East Side of
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          2  Manhattan. I live with my five children and my

          3  husband. We live in a Section 8 apartment and it

          4  helps us a great deal to pay the rent because I

          5  receive disability and I cannot work.

          6                 It is important that Intro 186 is

          7  passed because there would be no other way for me to

          8  pay my rent if I didn't have Section 8. And there

          9  are many others like me in the building. Our Section

         10  8 contract expires in 2006 and we don't know what

         11  will happen after that. But we have the idea that

         12  the owner is going to try to take our apartments

         13  away from us. We think this because the landlord has

         14  already evicted three families that were not covered

         15  by Section 8 and he has the remaining in housing

         16  court right now trying to evict them. We think that

         17  he wants our apartment so that he can raise the

         18  rent. If that is the case, we would not be able to

         19  afford our homes without help. The rents in my

         20  neighborhood are very expensive, often $2,000 or

         21  more for two bedrooms.

         22                 Where will I go with my five children

         23  if they take my apartment away from me? Besides, I

         24  have lived in the building for 20 years and in the

         25  neighborhood for 23 years. I am part of the
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          2  community and I believe that I have the right to

          3  remain so. My family, friends, and neighbors have

          4  also all lived here for years. The City has to help

          5  us protect our homes.

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  JEANNE POINDEXTER

          9  MEMBER

         10  EMP- MITCHELL LAMA ORGANIZATION

         11

         12                 I am Jeanne Poindexter, a cooperator

         13  at East Midtown Plaza, a 746- unit M- L cooperative

         14  in Manhattan that is currently engaged in a

         15  contentious dispute arising from the desire of some

         16  cooperators to leave M- L and become a private

         17  cooperative. I am a member of the EMP- Mitchell-

         18  Lama Organization, the group heading the opposition

         19  to privatization on two grounds.

         20                 First, for more than 30 years, we

         21  have benefitted financially from City support

         22  through our real- estate tax abatement, and we have

         23  a responsibility to perpetuate our housing for the

         24  public purpose it was intended to fulfill; viz., to

         25  provide affordable housing for middle- income New
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          2  Yorkers.

          3                 Second, in the long run, it is

          4  financially more sound for us as a cooperative to

          5  remain in the M- L program. The supporters of

          6  privatization are dangling a bag of gold that they

          7  claim will allow cooperators to make windfall

          8  profits by selling property they never really

          9  bought. But those who sell out will take the gold

         10  and leave the other residents holding an empty bag

         11  unassisted by the real- estate tax abatement that

         12  has been a significant factor in the affordability

         13  of our housing.

         14                 Greed is a power motivation. To

         15  counter it, we need to be able to reassure our

         16  cooperators that if we stay in the M- L program,

         17  NYC's support will not falter. The City Council can

         18  show the City's resolve on behalf of the survival of

         19  our affordable housing by passing Resolution 388A.

         20                 Please note that, if the

         21  privatization of EMP is not prevented, we will be

         22  the first M- L cooperative domino to fall in the

         23  current wave of pressures on the cooperatives to

         24  forsake the public purpose of M- L and abandon both

         25  the program and the next generation of middle-
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          2  income New Yorkers. Help us preserve our middle-

          3  income community; for us, and for New York City by

          4  approving Resolution 388A. Thank you for allowing me

          5  to speak.

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  JAMES GARTS

          9  MEMBER

         10  BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MITCHELL- LAMA COUNCIL

         11

         12                 My name is James D. Garst and I am a

         13  member of the Board of Directors of the Mitchell-

         14  Lama Council. The Mitchell- Lama Council supports

         15  Res. No. 388A. It makes an additional tax exemption

         16  for 50 years from the date of expiration of the

         17  current exemption so long as the housing company

         18  remains in the Mitchell- Lama program, thus assuring

         19  ongoing affordability and stabilizing the middle-

         20  income community. The Mitchell- Lama Council urges

         21  prompt enactment of Res. No. 388A.

         22

         23  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         24  DAVID GREENBERG, ADVOCACY DIRECTOR

         25  ASTRID ANDRE, POLICY DIRECTOR
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          2  ANHD

          3

          4                 About ANHD: The Association for

          5  Neighborhood and Housing Development (ANHD) is a

          6  not- for- profit organization which supports and

          7  advocates on behalf of 93 New York City community

          8  based housing organizations and the neighborhoods

          9  they serve. ANHD's community development corporation

         10  and community organizing membership serve as the

         11  front line in meeting the housing and community

         12  development needs of our City's low- and moderate-

         13  income neighborhoods. Our comments reflect both

         14  ANHD's broad experiences throughout New York's

         15  neighborhoods around issues of affordable housing

         16  preservation and production, and the specific

         17  experiences of many of our member groups.

         18

         19                 Broad Policy Experiences: New York

         20  City lacks affordable housing options for New

         21  Yorkers of all income levels. As noted in the

         22  National Low Income Housing Conference's Local Area

         23  Low Income Housing Database (LALIHD), 65.3 percent

         24  of households in New York City are renter

         25  households. Of those renter households nearly 40
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          2  percent are low- income including approximately

          3  603,104 extremely low- income households making less

          4  than $17,538. Of these extremely low- income

          5  households, 71.4 percent are cost burdened. New York

          6  City has a very unique housing composition when

          7  compared to the nation. Unlike national trends,

          8  nearly two thirds of New Yorkers rent apartments

          9  with more than a quarter (25.5 percent) of all New

         10  Yorkers paying more than 50 percent of their income

         11  for rent. The availability of affordable housing in

         12  New York is still very low.

         13                 Affordable housing units for these

         14  households most in need are scarce. The 2002 Housing

         15  Vacancy Survey (HVS) indicates that New York City's

         16  overall vacancy rate is 2.94 percent, while units

         17  with low rental prices have even less availability.

         18  For instance, the rental vacancy rate in 2002 for

         19  units with asking rents of less than $700 is less

         20  than 2.00 percent. And, as noted by NILHC's Out of

         21  Reach 2003 rental prices are still rising.

         22                 The lack of available affordable

         23  housing units coupled with a continued increase in

         24  rental prices has resulted in record numbers of

         25  overcrowded units and homeless individuals. The 2002
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          2  HVS finds that the overcrowding condition in New

          3  York City is also grave. The 2002 HVS states that

          4  11.1 percent of renter households were crowded (more

          5  than one person per room) in 2002. At present, the

          6  number of homeless New Yorkers residing in shelters

          7  each night has reached the highest point in New York

          8  City's history. In August 2004, more than 36,400

          9  homeless men, women, and children were sleeping each

         10  night in the New York City shelter system, including

         11  15,288 children, 12685 adult family members, and

         12  8,427 single adults. Thousands more sleep on City

         13  streets, park benches, and subway trains.

         14                 Experiences of member groups with

         15  expiring use Section 8 projects: With the increase

         16  in rental prices and the lack of available

         17  affordable housing, ANHD member groups have

         18  consistently stated that from their experiences that

         19  Section 8 project- based housing has proven to be an

         20  important supply of affordable housing. ANHD members

         21  have attempted to address this issue by working with

         22  tenants to ensure that they are afforded all their

         23  legal rights during the opt out process. Member

         24  groups have also looked at different financial

         25  mechanisms to help purchase any buildings. To offset
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          2  the potential displacement and loss of affordable

          3  housing units, the City needs to adopt system wide

          4  changes that place additional mechanisms through

          5  which tenants and/or their development partners have

          6  the opportunity to preserve these buildings before

          7  they are deregulated and there is further erosion of

          8  affordable housing.

          9                 The Tenant Empowerment Act (Intro

         10  186) provides some important mechanisms toward this

         11  broad goal. Many of our members have experienced

         12  issues around Section 8 opt out or buy outs that are

         13  addressed by provisions in Intro 186. For example,

         14  if a landlord decides to leave the affordable

         15  housing program, tenants get the first opportunity

         16  to acquire the building and keep it as affordable

         17  housing by partnering with a responsible non- profit

         18  housing development partner, through the tenant

         19  association, or by the City purchasing the building

         20  to maintain it as affordable housing. Several of our

         21  groups work with tenants, either to help them

         22  organize around purchase, or to help them by

         23  acquiring the building themselves.

         24                 Tenants will receive increased tenant

         25  notification of an opt out or buy out to 18 months
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          2  advanced notice. This will allow tenants time to get

          3  organized and understand their options. In the

          4  experiences of many of our member groups, tenant

          5  notification is not consistently implemented,

          6  leaving many vulnerable New Yorkers at additional

          7  risk. If enacted, this legislation could provide

          8  community- based organizations and tenants with the

          9  means to preserve this vulnerable and important

         10  housing stock. Thank you.

         11

         12  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         13  MARISA REDANTY

         14  PRESIDENT

         15  MANHATTAN PLAZA TENANTS ASSOCIATION

         16

         17                 Good afternoon, My name is Marisa

         18  Redanty and I am the Proud President of the

         19  Manhattan Plaza Tenants Association. Manhattan

         20  Plaza's 1,689 unit complex is home to approximately

         21  3,500 residents. We are located on West 43rd Street

         22  between 9th and 10th Avenues in the heart of the

         23  Broadway Theater District. We are both Mitchell Lama

         24  and project- based Section 8 and predominantly a

         25  community of performing artists. Manhattan Plaza was
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          2  long ago dubbed "The Miracle on 42nd Street" and

          3  thanks to the commitment of our elected officials

          4  including the massive efforts of our City Council

          5  Member, Christine Quinn, as well as performing arts

          6  unions, Tenants and Neighbors, HPD and HUD, it will

          7  remain intact for the next 20 years for present and

          8  future residents. We are one of the lucky ones. Our

          9  new landlord, Related Companies, has long been

         10  committed to affordable housing programs. They stay

         11  in the programs for the long term. They seem to be

         12  the exception to the rule.

         13                 We no longer have an affordable

         14  housing crisis in New York. We have a disaster. We

         15  are now in the midst of a disaster and we need

         16  disaster relief. I truly believe that Intro 186 is

         17  the type of legislation which could give such

         18  relief. In my own neighborhood, I have seen long

         19  time residents leave the City and the State because

         20  they were priced out of their homes. I have seen

         21  luxury buildings gobble up what was once a moderate

         22  middle class area. What kind of resident turnover do

         23  these buildings have? Some say 50 percent easily.

         24  Affordable housing units are said to have less than

         25  three percent tenant turnover per year. When I
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          2  questioned a resident of one of these new buildings

          3  about this issue, I was told that he and his next

          4  door neighbor are the only residents on their floor

          5  that has stayed more than two years. There are very

          6  few tenants in the entire building that have lived

          7  there since the initial rent up which was only six

          8  years ago. New tenants move in constantly and they

          9  move out a year or two later. He feels like he lives

         10  in a hotel.

         11                 I asked another, how can you afford

         12  the rent in your building? He said, I hate writing

         13  that check every month. It's ridiculous. But I make

         14  enough to do it. I said, yeah but what if you got

         15  married or want to start a family? He looked at me

         16  as if I were nuts and said, I'm not going stay here.

         17  I'm saving for a house and in a year or so I'll move

         18  to New Jersey or somewhere affordable. I never

         19  intended to stay. As a result of this mindset, our

         20  neighborhoods become more transient. Our City

         21  becomes a hotel for the rich. No one invests in the

         22  long term for the community. Why should they? They

         23  don't intend to settle. What was predicted many

         24  years ago is actually happening right now. New York

         25  City is becoming a place which only houses the very
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          2  rich and the very poor.

          3                 The fear of losing ones home becomes

          4  more real as building by building affordable housing

          5  units are lost. The mere threat of this occurring

          6  drove some Manhattan Plaza residents who have been

          7  on the waiting list for nine years to move out of

          8  New York State altogether. The couple I am referring

          9  to had only lived at MP for six months. They were

         10  hoping to start a family. The risk of doing so in a

         11  place that may lose its affordability was too great.

         12  I know of many long time residents, especially those

         13  with school age children, who began looking outside

         14  of the City immediately after the sale of Manhattan

         15  Plaza was announced. Luckily, they waited. Luckily

         16  they will not be priced out of their homes. They are

         17  a vital part of the economics of our community. They

         18  are a vital component which gives stability to our

         19  community.

         20                 Let's face it, people are losing

         21  their homes. That's the bottom line here. People are

         22  losing their homes and something has to be done.

         23  That something is Intro 186. The bill is a bold but

         24  proven approach meant to stop this deadly trend. It

         25  deserves to be looked at seriously. Tenants deserve
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          2  your input and efforts to make it work. I urge the

          3  Council make Intro 186 the law. I respectfully

          4  request of those who may see flaws or problems with

          5  the bill to find solutions if any are needed. I have

          6  faith that this can be accomplished. I say that

          7  because, I have enormous confidence in the

          8  leadership in this room and I know you won't let us

          9  down. Don't focus on what doesn't work. Focus on

         10  what does. Call me crazy, but I believe together we

         11  can do anything.

         12

         13  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         14  NANCY ROSENBLOOM

         15  STAFF ATTORNEY

         16  LEGAL AID SOCIETY

         17

         18                 Good afternoon and thank you for the

         19  opportunity to testify before the Housing and

         20  Buildings Committee on the vital issue of preserving

         21  affordable housing in New York City and in favor of

         22  the passage of Intro 186. I am Nancy Rosenbloom, a

         23  staff attorney in the Legal Aid Society's Civil

         24  Division. The Legal Aid Society's civil program is

         25  the largest provider of free civil legal services to
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          2  poor people in New York City. In addition to

          3  operating nine neighborhood offices serving all five

          4  boroughs of the City, the Society delivers

          5  comprehensive City- wide legal assistance through

          6  various special projects and City- wide offices,

          7  including the Civil Appeals and Law Reform Unit, the

          8  Homeless Rights Project, the Immigration Unit, the

          9  Health Law Unit and the Family Law Unit including

         10  the Domestic Violence Project. In total, the Legal

         11  Aid Society provides free legal representation in

         12  more than 25,000 individual cases annually to

         13  indigent New Yorkers who need but cannot afford an

         14  attorney. The Legal Aid Society also acts as counsel

         15  to the New York City Public Housing Resident

         16  Alliance and to the Coalition for the Homeless.

         17                 The Need to Preserve Affordable

         18  Housing is Urgent. As part of Legal Aid's daily

         19  practice, we provide legal representation and

         20  advocacy on behalf of low- income tenants whose

         21  housing is at risk. Many of our clients are tenants

         22  live in project- based Section 8 developments or

         23  other buildings that receive Federal or State

         24  subsidies. We also represent homeless families and

         25  individuals, who are in need of safe and affordable
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          2  housing but who daily come up against the extreme

          3  scarcity of such housing in New York City. In all

          4  five boroughs, we represent people with physical

          5  disabilities who cannot find accessible housing that

          6  is also affordable. For poor and lower- income

          7  working families, it is a constant struggle to find

          8  and maintain safe and affordable housing.

          9                 Subsidized affordable housing is a

         10  crucial part of maintaining even the inadequate

         11  numbers of affordable housing units that now exist

         12  in New York City, and curbing the rise in the

         13  population of New Yorkers who are homeless.

         14  Federally- subsidized project- based Section 8

         15  housing, for example, accounts for some 72,000

         16  affordable apartments for low- income tenants in New

         17  York City. Senior citizens and individuals with

         18  disabilities comprise 40 percent of the tenant

         19  population living in project- based Section 8

         20  developments. These apartments are in privately-

         21  owned buildings where eligible tenants pay 30

         22  percent of their income in rent and a subsidy from

         23  HUD covers the rest of their rent.

         24                 A similar rent scheme exists for

         25  housing under particular Federal programs that
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          2  provide subsidies at buildings reserved for elderly

          3  or disabled people and their families. The project-

          4  based developments protect long- time residents and

          5  ensure the continued presence of affordable housing

          6  even as neighborhoods changes and rents increase.

          7  The project- based Section 8 program is an example

          8  of the crisis caused when buildings reach the end of

          9  their original subsidy contracts and there are not

         10  sufficient means to keep the buildings affordable.

         11  As estimated 44,000 project- based Section 8 units

         12  came up or will come up for contract expiration in

         13  2004 alone. Landlords, for a variety of reasons,

         14  continue to opt out of the project- based Section 8

         15  program, and not all buildings will go through the

         16  Mark to Market or Mark Up to Market programs, which

         17  are currently available methods of preserving the

         18  affordability of some subsidized units. All across

         19  the City, private owners of subsidized buildings are

         20  opting out of project- based subsidy programs or

         21  prepaying subsidized mortgages and selling their

         22  buildings to for- profit developers.

         23                 The Federal Department of Housing and

         24  Urban Development has contributed to this crisis.

         25  HUD is currently engaged in aggressive enforcement
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          2  activity in buildings which have repeatedly failed

          3  inspections or in which mortgage payments are

          4  delinquent. In some cases HUD has allowed and even

          5  encouraged delinquent landlords to prepay their HUD-

          6  insured  mortgages and terminate their project-

          7  based Section 8 contracts, forcing tenants to find

          8  adequate housing elsewhere. In other cases, many

          9  times despite plans that tenants have developed to

         10  keep their housing affordable, HUD relies on public

         11  foreclosure auctions, which have attracted real

         12  estate speculators willing to pay inflated process

         13  to acquire these buildings.

         14                 These sales contribute to the

         15  scarcity and deterioration of the City's affordable

         16  housing stock. A prime example of the perils of

         17  HUD's strategy is the recent sale of the Pueblo de

         18  Mayaguez Apartments in the Bronx at public auction

         19  in July 2003. After HUD rejected the tenants' offer

         20  to privately finance the conversion of the building

         21  into a limited- equity affordable cooperative, HUD

         22  sold their building at public auction to a small

         23  landlord who had 1400 code violations on his other

         24  properties. Since the sale, tenants have seen the

         25  conditions in their buildings deteriorate
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          2  significantly.

          3                 Intro 186 Will Help Maintain

          4  Affordable Housing. It is against the backdrop of so

          5  many units potentially deregulating and leaving the

          6  affordable housing stock that we are here today, in

          7  support of an effort that has the potential to

          8  preserve the homes of so many New Yorkers. The right

          9  of first refusal and opportunity to purchase for

         10  tenants or others who can keep deregulated housing

         11  affordable is an important step, and should become

         12  local law. In New York City, we are fortunate to

         13  have a pool of responsible housing development

         14  groups who are committed to maintaining buildings as

         15  affordable housing for low- and moderate- income

         16  residents. Tenants or tenant- endorsed housing

         17  developers will have an enhanced opportunity, if

         18  Intro 186 becomes law, to acquire buildings in which

         19  owners choose not to stay in an affordable housing

         20  program. Tenants or non- profit housing developers

         21  should be allowed to purchase their buildings at or

         22  below market value when owners choose not to

         23  continue in an affordability program and sell their

         24  residential property. Intro 186 as currently written

         25  contains a market value provision, and could be

                                                            171

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  enhanced by clarifying that owners also have an

          3  option to sell for less than market value to tenants

          4  or their development partners.

          5                 The provisions of Intro 186 will not

          6  affect owners who sell their buildings to purchasers

          7  who intend to remain in the affordability program.

          8  Intro 186 also would provide tenants of buildings at

          9  risk of leaving affordability programs with

         10  meaningful notice when their buildings are at risk

         11  of converting to market rent, and give tenants

         12  access to the information needed to develop a viable

         13  plan to preserve their homes.

         14                 Conclusion. Thank you for the

         15  opportunity to testify before the Housing and

         16  Buildings Committee today. We hope that the Council

         17  will do all that is within its power to address the

         18  serious threats to affordable, subsidized housing in

         19  New York City. The goals of Intro 186 are a vital

         20  part of that effort.

         21

         22  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         23  PAT BOONE

         24  MEMBER

         25  ACORN
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          3                 It's no secret that there is an

          4  affordable housing crisis in New York City. But what

          5  does that mean exactly? The median income for the

          6  City is about $39,000 for a family of four. That

          7  means that half of the families in New York City

          8  make more than $39,000 and half make less. But in

          9  many neighborhoods, the median income is way lower.

         10  About $22,000 in Bushwick, $19,000 in Brownsville,

         11  $17,000 in Morissania and Hunts Point, $16,000 in

         12  Mott Haven. That's right, half the people in Mott

         13  Haven make less than $16,000 a year.

         14                 How much rent can a family making

         15  $16,000 afford? Only about $400 a month. Everyone

         16  who lives in this City knows how hard it is to find

         17  any apartment, let alone one big enough for a family

         18  of four, for $400. So what happens? At least 25

         19  percent of New York City families are paying more

         20  than 50 percent of their income in rent. Families

         21  crowd into apartments too small for them. They pay

         22  outrageous rents to landlords who don't care and

         23  keep their buildings in terrible condition. And

         24  those are the families who find a place to live. We

         25  can't forget that over the past five years the
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          2  number of families and children in City shelters

          3  have increased by 105 percent.

          4                 The subsidized housing the City

          5  builds is only a drop in the bucket compared to the

          6  need. That's why the lotteries for these projects

          7  are many times oversubscribed. And the biggest share

          8  of the money in the Mayor's housing plan will build

          9  housing for people making more than $39,000 and way

         10  more than the incomes of families in our poorest

         11  neighborhoods. In the meantime, market rents go up

         12  and up and the gap between the number of people who

         13  could get Section 8 and the number of Section 8

         14  vouchers the City has gets wider and wider.

         15                 Sounds pretty grim, doesn't it? So

         16  bad that it can only get better, right? Wrong! If

         17  you think it's tough out there now, what happens if

         18  the owners of 36,000 Mitchell Lama apartments decide

         19  to "go market" over the next ten years? They can

         20  unless we do something. We've already lost 24,000

         21  Mitchell- Lama apartments. What happens if the

         22  owners of 72,000 project- based Section 8 apartments

         23   "go market?" They can unless we do something. We've

         24  already lost 20,000 of these apartments.

         25  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

             BERNARD STEVENS
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             ACORN

          3

          4

          5                 Do you think the landlords are going

          6  to decide all on their own to keep these apartments

          7  affordable or are they going to follow the dollar

          8  signs twinkling in their eyes? No need to answer

          9  that question. And you can be sure that the

         10  residents won't be able to afford what the landlords

         11  will say is the market rent. As soon as the

         12  buildings go market, the residents will be forced to

         13  move. They'll probably end up paying way more than

         14  they can afford, and maybe live in an overcrowded

         15  apartment in poor condition.

         16                 Even worse, some may end up in

         17  shelters. Some of these buildings will be the last

         18  in their neighborhood to gentrify making the City

         19  even more segregated economically.

         20                 That's why Intro 186 is so important.

         21  In football, they say that defense wins

         22  championships. We see Intro 186 as the defense of

         23  the affordable housing campaign that we have been

         24  waging.

         25                 This fight for affordable housing
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          2  fight has many goals: We are fighting to build more

          3  affordable housing and preserve what we have. We are

          4  fighting to make sure that the subsidized housing

          5  that the City builds is affordable to the families

          6  that need it the most.

          7                 We are fighting to stop wholesale

          8  gentrification by building housing affordable to

          9  low- and moderate- income families throughout the

         10  City, not just in poor neighborhoods. Through the

         11  ACORN tenants union, we are fighting to protect

         12  tenants from landlords that gouge working families

         13  and don't take care of the buildings that they own.

         14  We are fighting to stop speculators from being able

         15  to buy City property and sit on it while they wait

         16  for prices to rise.

         17

         18  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         19  YOLANDA MATTHEWS

         20  MEMBER

         21  ACORN

         22                 Good afternoon, my name is Yolanda

         23  Matthews. But everything we gain in this fight and

         24  more will be lost if we lose 110,000 more affordable

         25  Mitchell Lama and project- based Section 8 units to
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          2  landlords poised to make a killing in the market.

          3                 That's where Intro 186 comes in, the

          4  defense in our affordable housing campaign. Intro

          5  186 will allow tenant organizations and responsible

          6  not- for- profits to acquire Mitchell Lama and

          7  project- based Section 8 buildings that are being

          8  converted to market.

          9                 Instead of allowing the owners to

         10  double dip with subsidies yesterday and big market

         11  rents tomorrow, the tenants and their not- for-

         12  profit partners will get the chance to work together

         13  to keep rents affordable and make sure that needed

         14  repairs. That's the only way that we can keep these

         15  buildings as quality, affordable housing for years

         16  to come.

         17                 We know that if we sit on our hands

         18  and let these apartments go, our campaign is in big

         19  trouble and we'll all extremely sorry ten years from

         20  now.

         21                 But we also know how much this means

         22  on a personal level to the families who are facing

         23  the fear and uncertainty, knowing that next year or

         24  the year after or maybe the year after that, they'll

         25  be priced out of their apartments. (Personal story
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          2  from resident(s) of Mitchell Lama building.)

          3                 We urge you to adopt Intro 186 to

          4  give us a fighting chance to keep our homes and to

          5  give all of us a fighting chance to win the campaign

          6  for affordable housing. Thank you.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 28th day of October 2004.
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          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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